
 

 
 

 

Tel/Ffôn: 01656 643643 Fax/Facs: 01656 668126 Email/Ebost: talktous@bridgend.gov.uk 

SMS Messaging/Negeseuon SMS: 07581 157014 Twitter@bridgendCBC Website/Gwefan: www.bridgend.gov.uk 

Text relay: Put 18001 before any of our phone numbers for the text relay service 

Cyfnewid testun: Rhowch 18001 o flaen unrhyw un o’n rhifau ffon ar gyfer y gwasanaeth trosglwyddo testun 
 
 

 

 Legal and Regulatory Services /  
Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Rheoleiddiol 
Direct line / Deialu uniongyrchol:  01656 643148 
Ask for / Gofynnwch am:  Mr Mark Anthony Galvin 
 
Our ref / Ein cyf:       
Your ref / Eich cyf:       
 
Date / Dyddiad: 18 September 2015 
 

 
Dear Councillor,  
 
CATALOGUE SUPPLIES JOINT COMMITTEE 
 
A  meeting of the Catalogue Supplies Joint Committee will be held in the Council Chamber,Civic 
Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend CF31 4WB on Thursday, 24 September 2015 at 2.00 pm. 
 
AGENDA 
 
1.  Appointment of Chairperson    

 To appoint a Chairperson of the Joint Committee for the ensuing year. 
 

2.  Appointment of Vice-Chairperson    

 To appoint a Vice-Chairperson of the Joint Committee for the ensuing year. 
 

3.  Apologies for Absence    

 To receive apologies for absence (to include reasons, where appropriate) from Members / 
Officers. 
 

4.  Declarations of Interest    

 To receive declarations of personal and prejudicial interest (if any) from Members/Officers in 
accordance with the provisions of the Members’ Code of Conduct adopted by Council 
from1st September 2008. 
 

5.  Approval of Minutes   3 - 8 

 To receive for approval the minutes of a meeting of the Catalogue Supplies Joint Committee 
dated 25 June 2015 
 

6.  Audited Statement of Accounts 2014-2015  
 

9 - 74 

7.  Service Trading and Operational Performance  
 

75 - 82 

 
 
 

  

Public Document Pack



 

 

8.  Exclusion of the Public    

 The minutes and report relating to the following items are not for publication as they contain 
exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 14 of Part 4 and Paragraph 21 of Part 5 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended by the Local Government 
(Access to Information)(Variation) (Wales) Order 2007. 
If following the application of the public interest test the Joint Committee resolves pursuant 
to the Act to consider these items in private, the public will be excluded from the meeting 
during such consideration.  
 

9.  Approval of Exempt Minutes   83 - 86 

 To receive for approval the exempt minutes of a meeting of the Catalogue Supplies Joint 
Committee dated 25 June 2015 
 

10.  Relocation of the Joint Supplies Service  
 

87 - 96 

 
Yours faithfully 
P A Jolley 
Assistant Chief Executive Legal and Regulatory Services 
 
Distribution: 
 
Councillors: Councillors Councillors 
C Barry 
N Clarke 
D Hardacre 
 

B Jones 
CE Smith 
B Stephens 
 

J Ward 
P Williams 
 

 
Officers 
S Evans 
V Hanly 
L Jones 
L Lucas 
F Mantle 



CATALOGUE SUPPLIES JOINT COMMITTEE - THURSDAY, 25 JUNE 2015 

 

9 

 
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE CATALOGUE SUPPLIES JOINT COMMITTEE HELD IN 
COMMITTEE ROOM 1, MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL, CIVIC CENTRE, 
CASTLE STREET, MERTHYR TYDFIL CF47 8AN ON THURSDAY, 25 JUNE 2015 AT 10.30 
AM 

 
Present 

 
Councillor B Stephens – Chairperson (Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council)  

 
Representing Bridgend County Borough Council 
 
Councillor N Clarke 
Councillor C E Smith 
 
Representing Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 
 
Councillor J Ward 
 
Representing Merthyr County Borough Council 
 
Councillor P Williams 
 
Officers: 
 
Stephen Evans Business Operations Manager – Bridgend County Borough Council 
Lee Jones Head of Regulatory Services – Bridgend County Borough Council  
Liz Lucas Head of Procurement – Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Frances Mantle Finance Manager, Technical and Corporate - Bridgend County 

Borough Council 
Wendy Wood Materials and Sourcing Manager – Bridgend County Borough 

Council 
Steve Vaughan Procurement Officer – Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 

Council 
Paul Davies Team Leader – Purchasing – Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 

Council 
Mark Galvin Senior Democratic Services Officer Committees 

 
9. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Apologies for absence were received from the following Members for the reasons so 
given:- 
  
Councillor D Hardacre – Holiday 
Councillor B Jones - Unwell 
 

10. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Though there were no declarations of interest made, certain Members of the Joint 
Committee once more made it known that they were members of various organisations 
which they had been appointed to by their local authority, for example, on the governing 
bodies of schools, and various schools did do they trading with the Joint Supplies 
Service. 
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



CATALOGUE SUPPLIES JOINT COMMITTEE - THURSDAY, 25 JUNE 2015 

 

10 

   
 

11. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
RESOLVED:                  That the Minutes of a meeting of the Catalogue Supplies Joint 

Committee dated 11 May 2015, be approved as a true and 
accurate record. 

 
12. SERVICE TRADING AND OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE 

 
The Head of Regulatory Services submitted a report which was intended to appraise 
Members of the ongoing service trading and operational performance for the 2015 Year 
to Date. Members have already approved the revenue budget for 2015/16 at the 
meeting in January. 

He confirmed that Service turnover (2014-15) (page 5 of the report) had continued to 
exceed target and as stated in paragraph 4.1.1.2 of the report, final turnover for the year 
had seen a favourable increase against targets, and in the case of stock turnover, 
against the previous financial year, due to a combination of increase in stores trading 
(mainly thorough expansion in Cardiff and Vale Schools), whilst catalogue directs 
(projects) with expansion into the third sector, via housing associations and flying start, a 
Welsh Government grant funding scheme. 

The Head of Legal and Regulatory Services referred members to Table 1 on page 6 of 
the report which showed a comparison of actual v target and when compared with the 
previous year, this reflect a positive picture.  

Table 2 on this page entitled Turnover, was broken down into the customer areas. The 
increase in trade derived from Cardiff and the Vale was shown in the turnover 
breakdown by customer.  

As was reported at the last meeting, Members would note that turnover for the 4 joint 
authorities had fallen by between 10 and 24%, though this had been offset by a 123% 
increase with Cardiff, 60% with the Vale and a similar level with housing associations 
and the Police. Although relatively nominal in value, the service had also seen an 8% 
increase from Swansea, despite similar budgetary pressures. 

The Head of Legal and Regulatory Services confirmed that Table 3 on page 7 of the 
report, showed the turnover to 31 May 2015 Actual and Target between catalogue 
stores and catalogue direct supplies, both of which were pleasingly ahead of target. 

Table 4 on page 7 of the report reflected the Order Book up to this point in the year, 
though there were still 44 weeks left to to make up the difference, and see an 
improvement on this. 

He explained that expenditure during the first two months was generally as projected, 
but there had been a reduction in the use of agency staff and therefore staffing costs. 
Projected spend was shown in Table 7 on page 8. This gave a projected surplus for the 
2015/16 financial year of £39,000. 

In summary therefore advised the Head of Legal and Regulatory Services, the last 
financial year was the highest ever annual surplus recorded, showing a 70% on the 
previous year. 

Cash balance as of 31
st

 March was £618K, though further details in respect of this 

would be included in a later agenda item on the Statement of Accounts, where the 
Finance Manager – Technical and Corporate would expand further on this year’s figures. 

Page 4



CATALOGUE SUPPLIES JOINT COMMITTEE - THURSDAY, 25 JUNE 2015 

 

11 

From the figures at present the turnover from non-joint authorities is up in all areas 
compared to the previous financial year, and this was offsetting the potential expected 
losses due to budgetary reductions in Local Authority’s. 

An Officer advised that the Service should look to obtaining sufficiency’s through 
initiatives such as electronic trading, and looking to generate further Contract work and 
achieve better prices via the Business supply chain, with for example, our top 10 
suppliers. Initiatives such as this she felt would give better trading opportunities. 

The Head of Regulatory Services confirmed that examples such as those above would 
be looked at as part of the operation of the business when the service is re-located. In 
terms of ways of looking to utilise supply chains in a more effective manner, a report 
would be submitted to the Joint Committee on this issue at its next meeting. 

The Head of Regulatory Services then referred to the next section of the report relating 
to Performance Indicators. He advised that a number of service PI’s are regularly 
reported to the Joint Committee following the review in 2014. 

Table 9 on page 9, showed that product availability for ‘first time pick’ was ahead of 
target (to date) and reflected an improvement on last year. 

He added that Stockholding, whilst lower than previous years, this was still above target. 
This was also subject of a separate report to be discussed later in the agenda. 

He proceeded to confirm that Debt had continued to be on target, after last year having 
decreased significantly. (Table 9 once more referred) 

Table 10 then provided a breakdown by value band. 

The Head of Regulatory Services then referred to Table 11 on page 10 of the report. 
This was a further performance indicator requested in relation to targeting new 
customers, with a target of 50 over the course of the financial year. To date 32 had been 
acquired. 

Table 12 then broke down sales order analysis, ie how the orders are placed, with the 
majority still be processed by email, telephone and fax etc. Though as was discussed 
previously in the meeting, sales in the future would be encouraged through processes 
such as on-line and eventually via electronic trading.   

There had been a decrease in the use of eProcurement Service portal ePS, but the 
BCBC system had been down which had not helped this situation.  There had however 
been an increase in web orders, and details regarding this could be found on page 11 of 
the report. 

The Head of Regulatory Services then referred to Page 12 of the report, where there 
was a summary of sickness absence for the year 2014-15. A robust corporate process 
was in place to minimise sickness, and absence had fallen compared with previous 
years, to an average number of days per person of 9.8, which is equal to the host 
authority average, but he appreciated that this needed to improve further. The issue at 
question which was increasing the average, was due to the long term absence of two 
staff members both of which had now left the service. 

Table 19 on page 13, broke down absence through muscular and skeletal problems, and 
this problem plus stress related absences formed the bulk of absence by number of staff 
and days lost. This was also something that could be further looked at as part of the 
relocation proposals. There was a new counselling service at BCBC which may assist 
with the stress/anxiety numbers. 

Page 5



CATALOGUE SUPPLIES JOINT COMMITTEE - THURSDAY, 25 JUNE 2015 

 

12 

With regard to Debt Management as referred to on page 14 of the report, outstanding 

debt over 120 days currently formed 1.1% of the total outstanding debt as at 16
th

 June 

2015. As Members would appreciate this was a very small percentage. 

The Head of Regulatory Services then informed the Joint Committee on training issues. 

Additional personal development training undertaken by staff during 2014-15 was as 
follows:- 

(1)  Introductorily Certificate in Sales & Marketing: Level 3 (20 week course) 
(2)  Adobe InDesign 2 day course (catalogue & website) 
(3)  Agility Content Management System (CMS) training (catalogue & website) 
(4)  Various MS Office courses – external 

There would also be a drive to ensure that Corporate training was accessible to staff 
where/when required, and this and any other training would be identified through Staff 
Appraisals 

In respect of catalogue sponsorship, there was an increase compared to last year, ie 
(89k v 86k) 

He explained that staff would look at other ways of maximising sponsorship, such as 
through the introduction of a supplier item led webpage on the website for additional 
contributions. 

An Officer asked for monthly reports to be presented to the Joint Committee outlining 
information regarding debt management on an Authority by Authority basis, as updates 
used to be given to the Joint Committee on this in previous reports. 

The Business Operations Manager confirmed that he would ensure that information 
regarding this would be detailed in future such reports as used to be the case. 

RESOLVED:                       That Members noted the content of the report, and delegated 
authority for Officers to enter into Contracts in accordance 
with the designations and the values shown in paragraph 
4.1.7.3 of the report. 

 
13. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2014-15 

 
The Treasurer submitted a report, the purpose of which, was to present the unaudited 

Statement of Accounts for the financial year 31
st

 March 2015. 

  
The Finance Manager – Technical and Corporate advised that the Accounts & Audit 

Regulations required that the Joint Committee sign and date the accounts by the 30
th

 

June 2015, certifying that they present a true and fair view of the status of the Accounts. 
The Joint Committee were then required to re-approve the accounts as soon as 
reasonably practical after the receipt of the auditor’s final findings.  
  
The unaudited accounts were attached at Appendix 1 to the report, and have been 
produced in line with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the UK for 
2014, which was in line with International Financial Reporting Standards.  
  
She confirmed that the Accounts would be placed on public deposit and be subject to 
audit. Once audited, then they would be presented to the next Joint Committee meeting 

on 24
Th

 September for formal approval. 

  

Page 6



CATALOGUE SUPPLIES JOINT COMMITTEE - THURSDAY, 25 JUNE 2015 

 

13 

The Accounts showed that the: 
  

•         Catalogue Supplies Service made a net surplus of £300,000 as shown on page 
45 of the Statement of Accounts. This surplus has been added to the 
accumulated usable reserves increasing the reserve balance at 31 March 2015 
to £1,304,000 as shown on page 46 of the Statement of Accounts.  

  

•         The short term debtors and creditors balances shown in the Balance Sheet on 
page 46 include related party transactions in respect of the relevant member 
bodies that form the Joint Committee. A breakdown of the related party balances 
is shown in the table on page 57 of the Statement of Accounts. This information 
has been provided separately to the Finance sections of each of the member 
councils. 

  

•         The cash position as shown on page 47 of the Statement of Accounts has 
increased from £425,000 at 31 March.2014 to £618,000 as at the 31 March 
2015. As with all financial statements, the cash flow position is a snapshot in 
time, with the position changing daily. However it is encouraging to note that 
Catalogue Supplies Service now sees itself in a healthy cash position compared 
to the years prior to April 2013 when it was in a net cash overdrawn position. In 
the future, this cash reserve will be partly used to support the relocation plans of 
the service; however the impact on useable reserves and estimated surplus 
remaining will be closely monitored to ensure that any costs associated with the 
relocation are affordable and won’t have a negative impact on cash balances.  

  
The Finance Manager – Technical and Corporate, added that for reporting consistency, 
the actual performance for the year was also provided in the format normally reported to 
the Joint Committee in the table shown on page 18 of the report at paragraph 4.5. This 
showed a surplus of £295,000, as it excluded any accrual in respect of holiday 
entitlements earned by employees but not taken at the year end, and supporting 
explanations of the more significant variances were contained in paragraph 4.6 of the 
report. 
  

                RESOLVED:                 The Joint Committee is recommended to approve its unaudited 
Statement of Accounts for 2014-15. 

 
14. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC             

  
RESOLVED:                         That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 

1972 as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation)(Wales) Order 2007,  the public be 
excluded from the meeting during consideration of the 
following items as the minutes and report contained exempt 
information as defined by Paragraph 14 and 16 of Part 4 
and Paragraph 21 of Part 5 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

  
                                              Following the application of the public interest test it was 

resolved that pursuant to the Act referred to above, to 
consider these items in private with the public excluded 
from the meeting, as it was considered that in the 
circumstances the public interest in maintaining this 
exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing the 
information because of the prejudice disclosure would 
cause by virtue of Paragraphs 14 and of Part 4 and 
Paragraph 21 of Part 5 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

                         

Page 7



CATALOGUE SUPPLIES JOINT COMMITTEE - THURSDAY, 25 JUNE 2015 

 

14 

  Minute No. Summary of Items: 
    

15 
  

  
Exempt Minutes of the Catalogue Supplies 
Joint Committee of 11 May 2015.   

    
 16  

  
County Borough Supplies Stock Holding 
Principles.  

  
 
 
 
 

Page 8



 
 
 
 
 

                                                                                                                             
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
 

REPORT OF THE TREASURER 
 

CATALOGUE SUPPLIES  SERVICE JOINT COMMITTEE 
 

THURSDAY  24  SEPTEMBER  2015 
 
 
AUDITED STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2014-2015 
 
 
1. Purpose of the Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the Joint Committee’s   

Statement of Accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2015; 
which is now due to be signed off by our external auditors KPMG, and 
to receive the external auditor’s Report to those Charged with 
Governance. 

 
2. Connection to Corporate Improvement Objectives / Other 

Corporate Priority 
 
2.1 None. 
 
3. Background  
 
3.1 The Accounts and Audit (Wales) Regulations 2014 require that the Joint 

Committee approves the audited Statement of Accounts by 30 
September. The format and content of the statement is governed by 
those Regulations and the accounts for 2014-15 have been produced in 
line with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
United Kingdom (the Code) for 2014. 

 
3.2 The (unaudited) Statement of Accounts was reported to the Joint 

Committee on the 25 June 2015.  
 
3.3 The (unaudited) Statement of Accounts were placed on public deposit 

and were subject to audit by KPMG, the auditors appointed for the Joint 
Committee by the Wales Audit Office. 

 
 
4. Current Situation /Proposal 
 
4.1 KPMG, our external auditors, have carried out their audit of the 2014-15 

Statement of Accounts and have not made any financial amendments 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



other than some suggested minor presentational adjustments. The 
surplus for the year remains at £301,000 with total reserves of £1.306 
million which includes an accumulated surplus of £1.216 million as at 31 
March 2015.  The revised Statement of Accounts is attached as 
Appendix 1.  

 
4.2 The mutual responsibilities of auditor and the audited body are 

expressed in the two other appended documents. Auditing standards 
require our auditors to obtain representation from the Committee on 
certain matters material to their opinion. The Letter of Representation, 
which is attached as Appendix 2, confirms to the best of one’s 
knowledge and belief, having made appropriate enquiries of other 
officers of the Catalogue Supplies Joint Committee, certain assurances 
to the auditors regarding the financial statements for Catalogue 
Supplies Joint Committee for the year ended 31 March 2015. 

 
4.3 The auditors have prepared an “Audit of Financial Statements Report 

for 2014-15”, which appears as Appendix 3. It summarises the key 
issues identified during the consideration of the Statement of Accounts 
and Annual Governance Statement.  
 

4.4 The auditors identified two internal control weaknesses during the audit 
in respect of the stock count control process. The auditors have 
recommended that checks should be put in place to ensure that stock 
balances are updated accurately with the results of the stock count. 
They have also recommended that the auditors should be made aware 
of the process including any recounts so that timely attendance can be 
arranged to count the final agreed stock count balances. Working 
practices have been amended by the County Supplies Business 
Operations Manager to incorporate these recommendations. 

   
5. Effect upon Policy Framework and Procedure Rules 
 
5.1 There is no impact on the Policy Framework and Procedure Rules.  
 

 
6. Equality Impact Assessment 
 
6.1 There are no equality implications arising from this report.   
 
 
7. Financial Implications 
 
7.1 These are reflected in the report and attached Statement of Accounts.  
 
8. Recommendation: 
 
8.1 It is recommended that the Joint Committee:  
 

• Approve the audited Statement of Accounts for 2014-15 
(Appendix 1) 

Page 10



• Note and agree the Letter of Representation to be provided to 
KPMG and the Wales Audit Office(Appendix 2) 

• Note the auditors’ Audit of Financial Statements Report for 
2014-15 (Appendix 3) 

  
  

NESS YOUNG, CPFA 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR RESOURCES, S151 OFFICER 
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL  
TREASURER TO THE CATALOGUE SUPPLIES SERVICE JOINT 
COMMITTEE 
 
24 SEPTEMBER 2015 
 
Contact Officer: Frances Mantle CPFA Tel No (01656) 643286 
   Finance Manager – Technical & Corporate 
   Frances.Mantle@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Background Papers:    Report of the Treasurer 

Statement of Accounts 2014-2015 
Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee 

   25 June 2015 
    

 
 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

CATALOGUE SUPPLIES SERVICE JOINT COMMITTEE 

 

 

COUNTY BOROUGH SUPPLIES 

 

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

 

 

2014-15 

 

 

 

    

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 13



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 1

 

Contents 
 

 
 

 Page  
Explanatory Foreword 2 
  
Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 
 

8 

Certification 9 
  
Annual Governance Statement 10 
  
Statement of Accounting Policies 18 
  

Core Financial Statements  

      Movement in Reserves Statement 23 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 24 

      Balance Sheet 25 
      Cash Flow Statement 26 
        
  
Notes to the Accounts 27 
  
Glossary of Terms 40 
  
Audit Report  43 

 

Page 14



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 2

 

 

EExxppllaannaattoorryy  FFoorreewwoorrdd  

  
1. County Borough Supplies  

 
County Borough Supplies is the trading name of the Catalogue Supplies Service 
Joint Committee of local authorities, which was established as a collaborative 
arrangement between the four local authorities of Bridgend, Caerphilly, Merthyr 
Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Councils. 
 
County Borough Supplies provides a purchasing and supply function which 
secures savings to corporate customers and schools through economies of scale 
and thereby contributes to the financial prudence of the authority. It achieves this 
by providing a single-source facility for each of the partnering authorities, through 
delivery via stores and a direct sourcing function for items of common and 
repetitive spend. 
 

2. The Statement of Accounts 

The accounts for 2014-15 have been produced in line with the Code of Practice 
on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code) for 2014-15. The 
Code specifies the principles and practices of accounting required to prepare a 
Statement of Accounts which presents a true and fair view of the financial 
performance and financial position and transactions of County Borough Supplies. 
In developing proper accounting practices, the Code is based on International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 

There has been no significant changes in requirements since the 2013-14 
accounts were prepared. 
 
The Joint Committee's Statement of Accounts consists of the following 
statements: 
 
a) Statement of responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 

This sets out the respective responsibilities of the Joint Committee and its 
officers for the preparation and approval of the Statement of Accounts. 

 
b) Annual governance statement 

This statement provides a continuous review of the effectiveness of the Joint 
Committee’s governance framework including the system of internal control 
and risk management systems, so as to give assurance on their effectiveness 
and/or to produce a management action plan to address identified 
weaknesses. 

  
c) Statement of accounting policies 

The purpose of this Statement is to explain the basis of the figures in the 
Accounts. It outlines the accounting policies that have been adopted. 
 
 
 
 

Page 15



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 3

  
d) The ‘core’ financial statements 
 

1. Movement in Reserves Statement on the County Borough Supplies Fund  
      Balance  
 
This statement shows the movement in the year on different reserves held by 
the Joint Committee. These are analysed into ‘usable reserves’ (i.e. those that 
can be applied to fund expenditure) and other reserves. The Surplus or 
(Deficit) on the Provision of Services line shows the true economic cost of 
providing the Joint Committee’s services details of which can be found in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The Net Increase 
/Decrease before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves line shows the 
accumulated surplus before any discretionary transfers to or from earmarked 
reserves undertaken by the Joint Committee. This shows that the total Joint 
Committee reserves have increased by £301k. 
 
2. The Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement 
 
This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, and summarises 
the income and expenditure incurred on the day to day running of County 
Borough Supplies’ activities.  
 
For 2014-15, County Borough Supplies showed a surplus on the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement of £301k.  

 
3. Balance Sheet 
 
This shows the Joint Committee’s financial position as at 31 March 2015, 
where the net worth was £1.306million. The statement summarises the Joint 
Committee’s assets and liabilities, the balances and reserves at the 
Committee’s disposal, its long-term indebtedness and the net current assets 
used in the Committee’s operations. Reserves are reported in two categories. 
Usable reserves can be used by the Committee to provide services subject to 
the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves. The second category, 
Unusable Reserves, are not available to provide services. This includes a 
reserve that holds the timing differences between the annual leave entitlement 
for staff and actual annual leave taken at the 31 March 2015.  

 
4. Cash Flow Statement 
 
This explains the financial position in cash terms and shows that the 
Committee’s cash position had increased by £193k. 

 
 
e) The notes to the Accounts 
  These are disclosures relating to the financial statements. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 4

 
3. Analysis of Financial Performance 
 

3.1 The actual performance for the year compared to the budget is shown in the table 
below: 

  
 

         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The actual performance for the year is provided in the format in which information 
is normally reported to the Joint Committee, and excludes any accrual in respect 
of the cost of holiday entitlements earned by employees but not taken at the year 
end. The final outturn as at 31 March 2015 showed a surplus of £295k. 
 
This is different to the figure reported in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Account of £301k surplus which includes an adjustment in respect of 
holiday entitlements. 
 
Reasons for differences between budget and spend 
Explanations for the more significant variances from budget are given below: 
The more significant variances are:- 
 

• Additional Catalogue Sales income of £164k as a result of favourable 
levels of trading experienced in the year together with maintained product 
margins during the year. 

 

• Additional ‘Other’ Income of £19k as a result of increased catalogue 
sponsorships. 

 

• A net underspend of £38k on employees’ budget due to decreased staff 
costs as a result of vacancy management. 

 

Actual 
2013-14 

 
 

Budget 
2014-15 

Actual 
2014-15 

Variance 
2014-15 

£000 Income £000 £000 £000 

(1,272) Catalogue Sales (net) (1,253) (1,417) (164) 
(121) Other income  * (110) (129) (19) 
(1) Financing Investment & 

Income  
- (4) (4) 

(1,394) Total Income    (1,363) (1,550) (187) 

 Expenditure    

792 Employees 821 783 (38) 
99 Premises 113 92 (21) 

126 Transport 112 148 36 
140 Supplies & Services   146 131 (15) 
9 Third Party Payments 25 57 32 
53 Support Services 51 45 (6) 

(1) 
Increase/(Decrease) in 
Provisions-(Bad Debt) 

 (1) (1) 

1,218 Total Expenditure  1,268 1,255 (13) 

     

(176) (SURPLUS)/ DEFICIT 
FOR YEAR 

(95) (295) (200) 

Page 17



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 5

• A net underspend of £21k on premises costs due to the extension of 
shared building costs with other departments located at County Borough 
Supplies. 

 

• A net overspend of £36k on transport due to increased usage of the 
service by Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan educational sectors. 

 

• A net underspend of £15k on supplies and services costs as a 
consequence of a general reduction in running costs including a reduction 
in the cost of producing the catalogue.   

 

• A net overspend of £32k on third party payments as a result of one-off 
migration costs of the website & development work. 

 

• A net underspend of £6k on support services as a consequence of a 
general reduction on the base budgets on which the recharge is based. 

 
* Other income includes catalogue sponsorship of £89k, contract (retrospective) 
rebates of £32k, site recharge income of £7k.  
 

3.2 The level of gross sales decreased  from £6.557M in 2013-14 to £6.418M       
           (-2.12%) in 2014-15. The decrease in turnover in 2014-15 is due to a number of 

factors including a reduction in project work compared to 2013-14 financial year  
in which the service experienced an increase in spend resulting from the Welsh 
Government Flying Start Initiative funding received by Local Authorities and a 
continuation of project refurbishment work across all Authorities. There was also 
a decrease in the supply and fit of carpet orders (£40k) in 2014-15.  In addition to 
this, there was no Easter period falling in the 2013-14 financial year and 2 Easter 
periods in 2014-15. As a result the JSS experienced an additional period of 
activity of two weeks (one week in 2013-14) from the school sector during March 
2015. 

 
Gross margins of 22.08% were higher than the 19.4% in 2013-4, due to a higher 
stock to direct sales ratio compared to the previous year, with sales of stock 
benefiting from a higher profit margin than catalogue directs. The net assets of 
the Joint Supplies Service (JSS) stood at £1.306M as at 31 March 2015 
(£1.005M as at 31 March 2014). 
 
Use of Surpluses 

3.3 The Joint Committee has been self-sufficient, funding itself from trading revenues 
for a number of years. Any surplus or deficit at the end of the financial year is 
transferred to a balance sheet reserve. The main purpose of the reserve is to 
even out variations between financial years, and, if sufficient monies are built up, 
to operate as a contingency to cover unforeseen items of expenditure which 
cannot be offset by savings elsewhere. It will also be used to finance the planned 
relocation costs in 2016 and any approved capital expenditure. The surplus for 
2014-15 of £300k has been offset with a transfer to the reserve account (£176k 
surplus in 2013-14).  

 
          Future Development 
3.4 A five year Business Plan for the period 2015-16 to 2020-21 was approved by the 

Joint Committee on 11 May 2015. The Business Plan incorporates the vision for 

Page 18



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 6

the service, details the continuing modernisation programme, and identifies the 
services priorities with an action plan to achieve this which includes relocation of 
the service due to current premises sustainability and involvement in the national 
Procurement Service suite of contracts. A revised Constitution has also been 
approved by each of the four partner authorities. The Constitution supersedes the 
1996 Constitution and is effective for a 5 year period. The new Constitution gives 
the Joint Committee a fresh power to incur capital expenditure to a value in any 
one purchase of up to £100,000, provided that such expenditure is met from 
within existing reserves. It also includes a protocol for new posts, with a provision 
that the recruitment and selection procedures of the host authority be adopted 
with all new posts at Principal Officer level and above requiring prior approval of 
the Joint Committee before an appointment is made.  

 
3.5 The Business Plan will be regularly reported to the Joint Committee during its life 

to ensure that any action plans are monitored. 
 
3.6 There is a need to re-locate the Service to new premises due to the poor 

condition of the existing office and warehouse accommodation and wider 
proposals to for the future development of the Bridgend County Borough Council 
Waterton Master Plan. This will impact on the timing of certain elements of the 
modernisation agenda which relate to the warehousing function, specifically 
renewal of warehouse IT infrastructure to support product barcoding and the 
renewal of internal forklift/reach trucks, the size of which will be determined by 
new premises. Initial plans focused on relocating in August 2015 however due to 
a delay in the adoption of a new Business Plan and Constitution this has now 
been delayed until March 2016. 

 
The cost implications of this is estimated to be £350,000, the details of which are 
included in the 2015-16 to 2020-21 Business Plan. The investment financing of 
this relocation will be provided by utilising the existing previously committed 
reserves and from future surpluses. 

  
4. Changes in Accounting Policies 

There are no changes to Accounting Policies in 2014-15. 
 

5. The Impact of the Current Economic Climate on the Joint Committee  
Even though gross sales have decreased by £139k in 2014-15 compared to the 
previous year, the reduction was due to a timing difference between goods 
ordered in 2014-15 and not delivered until 2015-16, and was not as a result of the 
current economic climate. The service has also experienced recent business 
growth through expansion primarily in the education sector for Cardiff and the 
Vale of Glamorgan Councils.  
 
Notwithstanding this, the JSS has conservatively estimated its future surpluses 
and has based its five year Business Plan on a mid-case funding scenario which 
assumes that there will be a drop in corporate income of 4.5% each year from 
2015-16 onwards offset by increased turnover from the Cardiff and the Vale. This 
scenario recognises the austerity measures placed on local authorities to 
continue to achieve an ambitious programme of financial savings whilst 
minimising the impact on the quality of frontline services. 
 
It is also recognised that the development of the National Procurement Service 
will potentially impact on further growth in corporate business and the future 

Page 19



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 7

strategy of the JSS will be to consolidate business in this area, while actively 
promoting the Service into the Education sector. The Service is targeting Cardiff, 
Vale of Glamorgan, Carmarthen, Newport, Neath Port Talbot and Swansea 
schools for additional growth, and additional business opportunities are being 
developed with the third sector. Discussions are also underway regarding how the 
JSS can work in partnership with the National Procurement Service 

 
In addition, a range of budget, sustainable and Welsh language products has 
recently been introduced and a review is being conducted to introduce further 
Education specific products into stock, targeting secondary schools business. 

 

The increased level of balances held is sufficient to enable the Joint Committee to 
respond to unforeseen eventualities. 
 

6. Activity Data 
 

 Inventory Days 
Inventory days are calculated on stock held in the warehouse only and exclude 
catalogue direct items which are sent directly by the supplier to the customer. The 
average number of days an inventory item was held decreased from 48 days in 
2013-14 to 44 days in 2014-15.1  
 
Since inventory turnover is associated with the cost of sales and average 
inventory, changes in either cost of sales or inventory can cause a change in the 
amount of inventory days. The decrease in inventory days in 2014-15 is as a 
result of an increased cost of sales compared to 2013-14 and a reduction in 
average stock held which in this case is a positive for performance which is 
evident from the increase in gross profit margin reported in paragraph 3.2.  
 
Debtor Days 
The average number of days for which a debt is outstanding has decreased 
compared to the previous year. The decrease is from 28 days in 2013-14 to 24 
days in 2014-15. 2 
  

 
Activity Measure  

7. As a measure of activity, the number of active customers served on an 
establishment basis was 2,036 and the number of transactions during the year 
was 269,326 from 43,279 orders. 
 
 
By comparison, in 2013-14, the number of customers served on an individual 
order basis was 1,993 and the number of transactions during the year was 
267,395 from 43,885 orders .The increase in 2014-15 in the customer base stems 
from the additional customers in the Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan educational 
sector. 

                                                
1  Average Stocks  x 365    

Cost of Sales(excluding catalogue direct)  
 

2  Average Debtors x 365 
  Sales 
 

Page 20



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 8

 

TThhee  SSttaatteemmeenntt  OOff  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess  FFoorr  

TThhee  SSttaatteemmeenntt  OOff  AAccccoouunnttss  

  
The Joint Committee’s Responsibilities 
 
The Joint Committee is required to: 
 

• Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and 
to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the 
administration of those affairs, in accordance with Section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. That officer for the Joint Committee is the 
Treasurer; who is the Corporate Director Resources and Section 151 
Officer, Bridgend County Borough Council 

 

• Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of 
resources and safeguard its assets. 

 

• Approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 

 
Joint Committee’s Certificate 

The Statement of Accounts of Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee as at 31 
March 2015 was approved by: 
 
 
Signed :                                                         Chairman of the Joint Committee         
 
 
Date :  
 

 
The Treasurer’s Responsibilities 
 
The Treasurer is responsible for the preparation of the Authority's Statement of Accounts 
which, in terms of the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in 
the United Kingdom (the Code), is required to give a true and fair view of the financial 
performance of the Joint Committee at the accounting date and its income and 
expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2015. 
 
In preparing this statement of accounts, the Treasurer has: 

 

• selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently; 

• made judgments and estimates that were reasonable and prudent; 

•  complied with the local authority Code of Practice 2014-15  
 

The Treasurer has also: 
 

• kept proper accounting records which were up to date; 

• taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 

Page 21



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 9

 

 

Certification of Accounts 

 

The Treasurer should sign and date the Statement of Accounts, stating that it gives a 
true and fair view of the financial position of the authority at the reporting date and of its 
income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2015. 

 

 
Treasurer’s Certificate 

 
I certify that the Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view of the 
financial position of Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee at 31 March 
2015 and of its income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2015. 
 
Signed :                                
 
 
Corporate Director of Resources, Section 151 Officer, Bridgend County 
Borough Council 
 
 
Date :  
 
 

 

Page 22



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 10 

  

TThhee  AAnnnnuuaall  GGoovveerrnnaannccee  SSttaatteemmeenntt  22001144--1155 
 
1. Scope of Responsibility  
 
1.1 The Joint Supplies Service (JSS) Committee is responsible for ensuring that its 

business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that 
public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, 
efficiently and effectively.  

 
1.2 The Committee also has a duty under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 

2009 to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the exercise of 
its functions in terms of strategic effectiveness, service quality, service availability, 
fairness, sustainability, efficiency and innovation. 

 

This builds upon the principles set out by the Welsh Government (WG) under the 
Wales Programme for Improvement (WPI) and the vision for public service 
delivery as set out in the ‘’Programme for Government”.  

 

 
1.3 This Committee has been jointly established by Bridgend County Borough 

Council, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Caerphilly County Borough 
Council and Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council. Bridgend County 
Borough Council acts as lead authority with responsibility for the stewardship of 
its financial affairs. 

 
1.4 In discharging its overall responsibilities, the Committee is also responsible for 

ensuring that it has proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs and a 
sound system of internal control which facilitates the effective exercise of its 
functions and which includes arrangements for the management of risk. 

 
1.5 Bridgend County Borough Council acting in its stewardship role has developed a 

Code of Corporate Governance which is consistent with the framework developed 
by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the 
Society of Local Authority Chief Executives (SOLACE).  

 

1.6 The Council’s Annual Governance Statement is presented to the Audit Committee 
every year for approval. The Joint Supplies Service (JSS) Committee has to 
produce its own Annual Governance Statement. 

 
 

1.7 The Joint Committee’s financial management arrangements conform with the 
governance requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief 
Financial Officer in Local Government (2010) as set out in the Application Note to 
Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework. 

 
 

2. The Purpose of the Governance Framework  
 
2.1 The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, and values, 

by which the Joint Committee is directed and controlled and the means by which 
it accounts to and engages with its stakeholders and customers. It enables the 
Joint Committee to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to 

Page 23



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 11 

consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-
effective services. 

 

2.2 The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is 
designed to avoid inappropriate use or loss of public funds.  It also assists with 
managing the risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives.  It does not 
eliminate all risk; the system of internal control is designed to identify and 
prioritise risks, evaluate the likelihood of those risks materialising and to manage 
their impact. 

  
2.3 The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to 

identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the Joint Committee’s 
policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being 
realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. 

 
2.4 The following paragraphs summarise the governance framework and the system 

of internal control, which has been in place at Joint Supplies Service (JSS) 
Committee for the year ended 31 March 2015. The description of the 
arrangements in place is built around the core principles set out in the Council’s 
Code of Corporate Governance (as the lead authority). 

 
3. The Governance Framework 
 

3.1 Bridgend CBC 

Policies & Plans 

3.1.1 The six principles of corporate governance that underpin the effective governance 
of all local authority bodies as defined by CIPFA and SOLACE, incorporating the 
WG governance principles (shown in italics) are as follows:   

• Focusing on the Council’s purpose and on outcomes for the community and 
creating and implementing a vision for the local area; (Putting the Citizen First); 
(Achieving Value for Money); 

• Members and officers working together to achieve a common purpose with clearly 
defined functions and roles; (Knowing Who Does What and Why); 

• Promoting values for the Council and demonstrating the values of good 
governance through upholding high standards of conduct and behaviour; (Living 
Public Service Values); 

• Taking informed and transparent decisions which are subject to effective scrutiny 
and managing risk; (Fostering Innovation Delivery);  

• Developing the capacity and capability of Members and officers to be effective; 
(Being a Learning Organisation); 

• Engaging with local people and other stakeholders to ensure robust public 
accountability; (Engaging with Others); 

 
3.1.2 The Council’s aims, objectives and main priority areas are detailed in its 

Corporate Plan 2013–2017. The Corporate Plan includes Improvement Priorities 
which are aligned with the key outcomes of the Local Service Board’s ‘Bridgend 
County Together’ Single Integrated Partnership Plan. This ensures that the 
Council is able to deliver on the commitments made with partner organisations. 

 

Page 24



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 12 

3.1.3 The Council’s core values encapsulated in the acronym FACE demonstrate the 
Council’s commitment to the Public Service values which are to be:- 
• F air (considering everyone’s needs and circumstances),  

• A mbitious (always trying to improve what we do and aiming for excellence),  

• C itizen focused (remembering the need to serve the local communities) and  
• E fficient (delivering effective services that are value for money). 

Council’s Constitution and Audit Committee 

3.1.4 The Constitution is at the heart of Bridgend County Borough Council’s business 
and sets out how the Council operates, how decisions are made and the 
procedures which are followed to ensure that these are efficient, transparent and 
accountable to local people. It also provides a framework that regulates the 
behaviour of individuals and groups through codes of conduct, protocols and 
standing orders The Constitution is a comprehensive document that is kept under 
continual review by the Monitoring Officer. It provides a point of reference for 
individuals and organisations both inside and outside the Council. Its Rules of 
Procedure govern the overall framework within which the Council operates.  
Procedural rules and codes of conduct outline how the Constitution will be put 
into effect.  Whilst the Constitution is required by statute its content is not fully 
prescribed. The Council is satisfied that it is consistent with statute, regulations 
and guidance. To ensure continued compliance, the Assistant Chief Executive – 
Legal and Regulatory Services is the Monitoring Officer appointed under Section 
5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 
3.1.5 It defines the roles and responsibilities of the Cabinet (as Executive), the Scrutiny 

Committee which holds the Cabinet to account, Full Council and other 
Committees and Officers. The Scrutiny Committees’ functions provide a further 
mechanism for review and challenge of any issues that may impact upon the 
system of internal control. Within the Constitution, there are protocols for effective 
communication and rules of procedures. 

 
3.1.6 The Council has an Audit Committee which provides the focus for reviewing the 

effectiveness of the system of internal control. This is primarily based upon 
reviewing the work of Internal Audit and receiving reports from the Council’s 
external auditors. The Committee provides assurance to the Council in relation 
to the effectiveness of the risk management framework, internal control 
environment and governance matters. 
 

3.1.7 In addition, the Standards Committee has a duty to promote and maintain 
high standards of conduct by Town and Community Councillors and County 
Borough Councillors, co-opted members and Church and Parent Governor 
Representatives. 

Financial Management 

3.1.8 The Corporate Director Resources is the Section 151 Officer appointed under 
the 1972 Local Government Act and carries overall responsibility for the 
financial administration of the Council. She is responsible for ensuring that 
appropriate advice is given on all financial matters, for maintaining proper 
financial accounts and records and maintaining an effective system of internal 
financial control. The Corporate Director Resources and S151 Officer is also 
the Treasurer to the Joint Committee and in this capacity ensures that proper 

Page 25



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 13 

arrangements are in place for the administration of the financial affairs of 
County Borough Supplies. 

Code of Conduct 

3.1.9 The Council has established Codes of Conduct for both Employees and Members 
that define expected standards of personal behaviour. This also applies to staff at 
County Borough Supplies. These are contained within Part 5 of the Constitution. 

Risk Management  

3.1.10 The Council has developed a robust approach to the management of risk and the 
risk management policy is aligned with Directorate Business Plans and the 
Council’s performance management framework.  All risks identified are assessed 
against the corporate criteria. Risks are viewed from both a Service and Council-
wide perspective which allows the key risks to be distilled into a Corporate Risk 
Register.  Most major risks are managed within one of the key strategic 
programmes.  CMB regularly reviews the risk register and actions being taken to 
mitigate the risks. The Corporate Risk Register is also presented to Audit 
Committee for review. 

3.1.11 The Council’s approach to Risk Management ensures that key risks are 
considered when determining Council priorities, targets and objectives. These are 
incorporated into the Directorates’ and Service Business Plans.  

 
3.1.12 The Joint Supplies Service Committee has identified its main risks as being: 

• Failure to maintain existing levels of turnover and customer commitment 
(medium risk) 

• Additional revenue implications as a consequence of the building 
relocation in April 2016 (low risk), and 

• Failure to maintain service levels impacting on  customer support (low risk) 
 
The Joint Supplies Service Committee have identified actions necessary to 
mitigate these risks in their Business Plan. Levels of risk are also mitigated by the 
annual undertaking and assurance of both independent internal and external 
auditing of operational policies which are reported to the JSS management 
Committee.  
 

3.2 Joint Supplies Service (JSS) Committee   

3.2.1 The Joint Committee’s Constitution sets out how the Committee operates, how 
decisions are made, and the procedures which are followed. It defines the roles 
and responsibilities of the Members and Officers, the membership and powers of 
the Committee.   

The elements of the internal control environment of the Joint Committee are 
achieved as follows: 

(i) Establishing and monitoring the achievement of the County Borough Supplies 
Service objectives: 

Page 26



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 14 

• Memorandum of Agreement defining the constitution refers to the submission 
of estimates to the Committee and preparation of an annual report and 
statement of accounts.  

 

• The ongoing Joint Supplies Service Review. This has regularly reviewed 
operations and the commercial environment on a quarterly basis and has 
reported to the Joint Committee. 

 

• A five year Business Plan for the period 2015-16 to 2020-21 was approved by 
the Joint Supplies Service Committee on 11 May 2015. Progress reports will 
be presented to the JSS Committee on a regular basis for consideration. 

 

(ii) Facilitation of policy and decision-making : 

• Joint Supplies Service Committee which makes executive decisions and holds 
three general business meetings a year comprises members from Bridgend 
County Borough Council, Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Caerphilly CBC and Rhondda 
Cynon Taf CBC.  

 

(iii) Ensuring compliance with established policies, procedures, laws and 
regulations:  

• Function delegated to Bridgend County Borough Council. To ensure continued 
compliance, the Assistant Chief Executive – Legal and Regulatory Services is 
the Monitoring Officer appointed under Section 5 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989. The Monitoring Officer carries overall responsibility for 
ensuring compliance with the law and his staff work closely with departments 
to advise on legal matters. He is also responsible for continually reviewing the 
Constitution which at the heart of the Council’s business and assigns 
responsibility within the Authority.  It also provides a framework that regulates 
the behaviour of individuals and groups through codes of conduct, protocols 
and standing orders. 

 

(iv) Ensuring the economical, effective and efficient use of resources and secure 
continuous improvement in the way functions are exercised: 

• The Joint Supplies Service Committee achieves this by regularly monitoring 
and reviewing its Business Plan, undertaking a monthly finance health check, 
regularly monitoring and reviewing performance indicators and habitually 
monitoring order book turnover. 

 

(v) Facilitating the financial management of the Committee: 

• Under the financial stewardship of Bridgend County Borough Council by way 
of the support service agreement and periodic internal audit reviews. 

 

(vi) Facilitating the performance management of the committee and its reporting 

• Bridgend County Borough Council Corporate Improvement arrangements.  
 

• A number of Key Performance Indicators have been reported to the 
Committee for several years, as a tool for the monitoring progress of service 
delivery. The performance indicators are periodically reviewed to ensure they 
reflect service needs. A new indicator has been introduced relating to new 
customers, reflecting the required objective of business growth whilst a 

Page 27



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 15 

number of existing indicators have also been enhanced providing further 
detailed information.  

 
• Sustained quality of service delivery assessed by annual customer survey.  

 

 
• Management of operational costs within agreed budget for respective period. 
 

 
(vii) The management of staffing levels and structure in the Joint Supplies Service: 

 

• Operational issues are managed under the Bridgend terms of employment 
without referral to Officers or Members; however more strategic decisions 
such as structure changes, retirement, and redundancies etc. which 
involve financial consideration are referred to the Joint Service Committee 
for consideration.  

 
 
4. Review of Effectiveness 
 

4.1 Bridgend County Borough Council; having the stewardship of the Joint 
Committee’s finances, has responsibility for conducting, at least annually, a 
review of the effectiveness of its governance framework including the system of 
internal control. The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of:- 

 
• the Corporate Directors within the Council who have responsibility for the 

development and maintenance of the governance environment. 
• the work of the internal auditors, the comments made by the external 

auditors in their management letters and other reports; 
• the reports of other independent inspection bodies and Welsh Government. 

 
4.2 The process for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the governance 

framework includes the following:- 
 

• A Performance Management Framework (The Cabinet as Executive) which 
links the Council’s vision of “Working together to improve lives” through 
services delivered at the frontline of the Council and how external factors 
influence the vision. This is known as the ‘Golden Thread’ for planning. 

 
• A Resourced Scrutiny function which holds the Cabinet to account.  

 
• The Audit Committee which is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of 

the system of internal control. 
 

• Internal Audit who undertake a continuous audit of Council services. 
 

• The Council’s Chief Executive (as Head of Paid Service) leads the Council’s 
officers and chairs the Corporate Management Board whose role is to 
promote a strong performance management culture and provide a challenge 
on performance management, which compliments the Corporate 
Performance Assessment.  

 

Page 28



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 16 

• A Corporate Performance Assessment (CPA) forum to enable Cabinet ,CMB 
and Heads of Service to : 
� Obtain a holistic view of the Council’s performance; 
� Identify and explore cross-cutting issues and overspends that affect 

more than one area; 
� Critically challenge areas of poor performance; and 
� Identify service improvement opportunities, risks to delivery and 

resource implications. 
 
This CPA achieve this through monitoring the Council’s improvement 
priorities as defined by the Corporate Plan; agreed key indicators/measures 
and service actions that are linked to directorate priorities as defined by the 
Corporate Plan; the budget allocated to delivering improvement priorities; 
and Corporate risks. 

  
• The Cabinet and Scrutiny Committee functions provide a further mechanism 

for review and challenge of any issues that may impact upon the system of 
internal control.  

 
• The Joint Supplies Service Committee has a key role in reviewing and 

monitoring the effectiveness of the governance framework, and holds at 
least three meetings in a year for the transaction of general business.   

 
4.3 A review of County Borough Supplies was undertaken by Bridgend County   

Borough Council Internal Audit (dated October 2014) as part of their 2014-15 
annual Internal Audit Plan and was given a grading of ‘substantial assurance’. 
The results of the Audit Review were reported to the Joint Committee in 
January 2015. County Borough Supplies are audited on a regular basis and 
the next internal audit review is planned for 2016-17. 

 
 

5. Significant Governance Issues  
 

5.1 No significant issues were identified during 2014-15 as a result of the review of 
arrangements.  

 
5.2 The governance of the Joint Supplies Service (JSS) has changed considerably 

over the last 2 years with an increased role being performed by BCBC as host 
authority on behalf of the Joint Committee, with a noted change from that of a 
consultative role to decision-making and control, with a tier of designated BCBC 
officers overseeing the management function. 
 

5.3 A restructuring of the organisation was undertaken in 2012-13, with recognition at 
the time that the Service reshaping was an outline only with further modification 
likely. In order to continue to improve upon efficiencies within the service, the 
existing structure was amended as part of the 2015-16 budget strategy which was 
approved by the Joint Committee on 29 January 2015. The revised structure, 
reflects current working practises including increased management support of the 
business operation by BCBC and the removal of the Manager post and reduces 
the structure from 33 (31.6 FTE) staff to 32 (30.6 FTE) staff.  

Page 29



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 17 

 
6. Certification of Annual Governance Statement 
       

 Signed: 

   Date:     

Chairperson of the Joint Committee   

 

  Signed: 

  Date:     

Treasurer to the Joint Committee  

S151 Officer, Bridgend County Borough Council          

 

  Signed: 

  Date:     

Head of Regulatory Services– Lee Jones  
 

Page 30



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 18 

 

SSttaatteemmeenntt  ooff  AAccccoouunnttiinngg  PPoolliicciieess  
 
1. General principles 
 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Committee’s transactions for the 
2014-15 financial year and its position at the year end of 31 March 2015.  It has 
been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in the United Kingdom (the Code) 2014-15 and the Service Reporting Code of Practice 
(SeRCOP) 2014-15 supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).   

 
The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is historical 
cost. The organisation has produced a net surplus since its inception with 
exception to 2010-11 when it decided to invest in service modernisation. There 
are currently no plans to terminate its operations. 
 
The Joint Committee and Treasurer therefore consider it appropriate to prepare 
the accounts on a going concern basis. As long as current performance 
continues, the organisation will be operative for at least 12 months from the date 
of accounts signature. 

 
2. Accruals of income and expenditure 
 

Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash 
payments are made or received.  In particular: 

 
• Fees and charges due from customers are accounted for as income at the                    

date the Committee provides the relevant goods. 
 

• Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where 
supplies have been received but not yet consumed, they are carried as 
inventories (stocks) on the balance sheet. 

 

• Interest payable on borrowings and receivable on investments is accounted 
for on the basis of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial 
instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract. 

 

• Where income and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been 
received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the 
Balance sheet.  Where it is doubtful that debts will be settled, the balance of 
debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income that 
might not be collected. 

  
3. Reserves 

 
The Committee sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy 
purposes or to cover contingencies. Reserves are created by appropriating 
amounts in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be 
financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service 
revenue account in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
The reserve is then appropriated back into the Accumulated Surplus Balance in 

Page 31



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 19 

the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge against the 
revenue account for the expenditure. 
 
The Reserve for Plant and Equipment is used for evening out expenditure on 
larger items such as computer software for e-trading which are not capitalised. 
 

A reserve is kept to manage the accounting processes for accumulated 
absences. This reserve does not represent usable resources for the organisation, 
and is further explained in the relevant policies section.  

 

4. Provisions & Contingent Liabilities  
 
4.1 Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the committee 

an obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic 
benefits, but where the timing or amount of the transfer is uncertain.  For 
instance, the Committee may be involved in a court case that could eventually 
result in the making of a settlement or the payment of compensation. 

 

4.2 Provisions are charged to the appropriate revenue account when the Committee 
becomes aware of the obligation, based on the best estimate of the likely 
settlement. When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the 
provision set up in the balance sheet. Estimated settlements are reviewed at the 
end of each financial year and where it becomes more likely than not that a 
transfer of economic benefits will not be required, the provision is reversed and 
credited back to the relevant revenue account. 

 

4.3 Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to 
be met by another party, this is only recognised as income in the relevant 
revenue account if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the 
obligation is settled.   

 

4.4 There are no contingent liabilities impacting on the Catalogue Supplies Service 
Joint Committee. 

 

 
5. Inventories (Stock and Work in Progress) 
 

5.1 Inventories (stocks and stores) have been included in the accounts at the 
average purchase price.  

 

5.2 A provision is held in the accounts to provide for items identified as obsolete or 
sold at less than net realisable value. 

 
6. Allocation of Support Services 

 
6.1 The costs of overheads and support services are charged to services that benefit 

from the supply or service in accordance with the costing principles of the CIPFA 
Service Reporting Code of Practice 2014-15 (SeRCOP). For 2014-15, most support 
service costs have been apportioned by a variety of methods.  The most 
important being: 

 
 

 

Page 32



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 20 

• Agreed fixed charges 
• actual use of support service 
• estimated staff deployment, in some cases backed by formal time recording 

systems 
• apportionments based on related financial or physical quantities (e.g. 

employee numbers, number of deliveries etc) 
 

6.2 The charge for support services includes Information Technology, Procurement, 
Human Resources, Legal Services, Cash Receipting, Payments, Audit and 
Accountancy.  

 

7. VAT 
 
7.1 Income and expenditure excludes any amounts related to VAT, as all VAT 

collected is payable to Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs and all VAT paid is 
recoverable from them. 

 
8. Employees and Pensions Costs 
 

8.1 The County Borough Supplies Service employs no staff directly. Staff are 
employed by Bridgend County Borough Council acting in its stewardship role        
(see note 15 to the financial statements), and their costs are recharged. Staff 
participate in the Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council Pension Fund 
which is a local Government defined benefit scheme. The pension costs that are 
charged to the accounts in respect of its staff are equal to the contributions paid 
to the funded pension scheme for these employees. 

   

9. Financing Charges & Interest Payable Earned  
 
9.1 Finance charges or interest earned are calculated on the average monthly cash 

balance for the year and represent either an interest charge at base rate plus 1% 
or interest earned which is applied at the average investment rate during the year. 
Any overdrawn balances are financed by the host authority. The JSS have had a 
positive cash position in the last two years with interest received on the surplus 
balance at a rate of 0.45% in 2014-15 (1.5%. in 2013-14). See supporting note 6 
for further information regarding the rate of interest received. 

 

10. Employee benefits 
 
10.1 Benefits Payable During Employment 

 
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the      
year-end. They include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave, 
paid sick leave and bonuses for current employees and are recognised as an 
expense for services in the year in which employees render service to the 
Authority. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlement earned by 
employees but not taken before the financial year-end which employees can carry 
forward into the next financial year. The accrual is charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement, but then reversed out through the Movement 
in the Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the 
financial year in which the holiday absence occurs.  
 

Page 33



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 21 

11. Cash & Cash Equivalents 

Cash is represented by cash in hand, and will also include bank overdrafts that 
are repayable on demand and that are integral to the organisation’s cash 
management. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in no more than 
three months from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. County Borough 
Supplies does not undertake short term investments.  

Page 34



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 22 

  

  

  

  

  

CCoorree  

FFiinnaanncciiaall  

SSttaatteemmeennttss  

22001144--1155 

Page 35



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 23

Movement in Reserves Statement For Years Ended 31 March 2014 & 2015 

    Accumulated  Earmarked Total Unusable Total 

Notes 

    Surplus    Usable Reserves Committee 

    Balance Reserves Reserves   Reserves 

    £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000   

Balance at 31 March 2013 745 88 833 (3) 830   

               

Movement in reserves during 2013-14            
               

Surplus or (deficit) on provision of services  175 - 175 - 175   
         

Total Comprehensive Expenditure and Income 175 - 175 - 175   

        

Adjustments between accounting basis & funding basis under regulations - - - - - 1 
                

Net Increase/ (Decrease) before Transfers to Earmarked Reserve 175 - 175 - 175   

                

Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserve - - - - - 12,13 
               

Increase/(Decrease)  in 2013-14 175 - 175 - 175   

                

Balance at 31 March 2014 carried  forward 920 88 1,008 (3) 1,005   

Movement in reserves during 2014-15        

Surplus or (deficit) on provision of services  301 - 301 - 301   

       

Total Comprehensive Expenditure and Income 301 - 301 - 301   

           

Adjustments between accounting basis & funding basis under regulations (5) - (5) 5 - 1 

        

Net Increase/ (Decrease) before Transfers to Earmarked Reserve 296 - 296 5 301   

           

Transfers to/from Earmarked Reserve - - - - - 12,13 

           

Increase/(Decrease) in 2014-15 296 - 296 5 301   

          

Balance at 31 March 2015 carried forward 1,216 88 1,304 2 1,306   

The notes on pages 27 to 39 form part of the financial statements 

P
age 36



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 24

CCoommpprreehheennssiivvee  IInnccoommee  aanndd  EExxppeennddiittuurree  SSttaatteemmeenntt  22001144--1155  
2013-14 

Description 

2014-15   

Gross 
Expenditure 

Gross 
Income 

Net 
Expenditure  

Gross 
Expenditure  

Gross 
Income  

Net 
Expenditure  

Notes 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000   

792 - 792 Staff Costs  777 - 777 (2,3) 

99 - 99 Premises 92 - 92   

126 - 126 Transport 148 - 148   

140 - 140 Supplies & Services 131 - 131   

9 - 9 Third Party Payments 57 - 57   

53 - 53 Support Services 45 - 45 4 

- (1) (1) Bad Debt Provision - (1) (1) 5 

        

1,219 (1) 1,218 Operating Expenditure  1,250 (1) 1,249   

- (1) (1) Interest payable on debt/(receivable on balances) - (4) (4) 6 

- (1) (1) Financing & Investment Income / Expenditure - (4) (4)   

   Income       

 (6,557) (6,557) Turnover (Sales)  (6,418) (6,418)   

   Less cost of Sales:       

426 - - Opening Stock 392 - -   

5,251 - - Plus Purchases 4,979 - -   

(392) -  Less Closing Stock (370) -    

  5,285 Total Cost of Sales    5,001  

5,285 (6,557) (1,272) Gross Profit  5,001 (6,418) (1,417)   

          

- (121) (121) Other Income   (129) (129) 7 

          

6,504 (6,680) (176) (Surplus) / Deficit  on provision of service  6,251 (6,552) (301) 
  

The notes on pages 27 to 39 form part of the financial statements.

P
age 37



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 25 

 
BBaallaannccee  SShheeeett  ffoorr  YYeeaarrss  EEnnddeedd  3311  MMaarrcchh  22001144  aanndd  22001155  

  
  

31 March 
2014 Description 

31 March 
2015 

Notes 

£’000   £’000   

        
392 Inventories 370  8 
898 Short Term Debtors 672  9 
425 Cash  618  10 

1,715 Current Assets 1,660  

       
(710) Short Term Creditors (354) 11 

(710) Current Liabilities (354)   

       

1,005 Net Assets  1,306   

       
  Usable reserves    

920 Accumulated Surplus  1,216 12 
88 Earmarked Reserve  88 12 
 Unusable reserves    

(3) Short-term Accumulating Compensated 
Absences Account 

2 13 

      

1,005 Total Reserves  1,306   

 
The notes on pages 27 to 39 form part of the financial statements.

Page 38



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 26 

 

CCaasshh  FFllooww  SSttaatteemmeenntt  aass  aatt  3311  MMaarrcchh  22001144  aanndd  3311  MMaarrcchh  22001155  

  

  
2013-14  

  
2014-15  Notes 

£’000   £’000   

       
(176) Net (surplus) or deficit on the provision of services (301)  
(272)  Adjustments to  net surplus or deficit on the provision of 

services for non-cash movements 108 
  

(448) Net cash flows from Operating Activities (193) 14 

     

(448) Net (increase) or decrease in cash and cash equivalents (193)  

      
23 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting 

period 

(425) 

  
      

(425) Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting 
period 

(618)  10 

  
The notes on pages 27 to 39 form part of the financial statements.

Page 39



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 27 

  

  
  
  
  

NNootteess  ttoo  tthhee    

CCoorree  

FFiinnaanncciiaall  

SSttaatteemmeennttss  

22001144--1155 

Page 40



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 28

 
 

Contents for Notes to the Core Financial Statements  

  
  
Note  Page 

Number 
1. Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis Under 

Regulations 
29 

2. Officers’ Emoluments 30 
3. Pension Costs 30 
4. Support Services 30 
5. Provisions 31 
6. Interest Receivable on Balances &Financing Charges  31 
7. Other Income   31 
8. Inventories 32 
9. Short Term Debtors 32 
10. Analysis of Changes in Cash during the Year 33 
11. Short Term Creditors 33 
12. Usable Reserves 33 
13. Unusable Reserves 34 
14. Operating Activities 35 
15. Related Party Transactions 35 
16. External audit costs 37 
17. Financial Instruments Disclosures- Fair Values of Assets and 

Liabilities 
37 

18. Events After the Balance Sheet Date 37 
19. Contingent Liabilities   38 
20. Accounting Standards that have been Issued but not yet Adopted 38 
21. Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 38 
22. Amounts Reported for Resource Allocation Decisions 38 

  

  

  

  

    

Page 41



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 29

 

  

NNootteess  ttoo  tthhee  MMoovveemmeenntt  iinn  RReesseerrvveess  SSttaatteemmeenntt  
  

1. Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis Under 
Regulations 

 

 This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive 
income and expenditure recognised by the organisation in the year in 
accordance with proper accounting practice to the resources that are 
specified by statutory provisions as being available to the organisation to 
meet future capital and revenue expenditure.  

 The adjustment relates to Short-term accumulating compensated absences. 
These are benefits that employees receive as part of their contract of 
employment, entitlement to which is built up as they provide services to the 
council. The most significant benefit covered by this heading is holiday pay. 

Employees build up an entitlement to paid holidays as they work. Under the 
Code of Practice 2014-15, the cost of providing holidays and similar benefits 
is required to be recognised when employees render services that increase 
their entitlement to future compensated absences. As a result, County 
Borough Supplies is required to accrue for any annual leave earned but not 
taken at 31 March each year, and amounts are transferred to the 
Accumulated Absences Account until the benefits are used in recognition of 
this. 

The tables below detail the adjustments for 2014-15:- 
 

  Accumulated   Total Unusable Short term Total 

  
 Surplus 
Fund Usable Reserves Compensated  

2014-15 Balance Reserves   Absences Reserves 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

           
Adjustments primarily involving the Accumulated Absences 
Account :      
Amount by which officer 
remuneration charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement on an 
accruals basis is different 
from remuneration 
chargeable in the year in 
accordance with statutory 
requirements (5) (5) 5 5 - 

       

Total Adjustments 2014-15 (5) (5) 5 5 - 

 
For 2013-14 the adjustments primarily involving the accumulated absences account 
were £129.

Page 42



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 30

 

Notes to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 

 
 

2. Officers’ Remuneration 
    

The Accounts and Audit (Wales) (amendment) Regulations 2014 require the 
starting point to be £60,000 for this disclosure. There were no staff members 
whose gross pay exceeded this figure in 2014-15 (or 2013-14). 
 

The Code of Practice 2014-15 requires that the Joint Supplies Service 
disclose the number and cost of exit packages agreed. No exit packages 
were agreed during 2014-15 (or 2013-14).   
 

 

3. Pension Costs 
The actual amount charged to the revenue accounts for pensions included 
under employees was £82,623 (£89,808 in 2013-14). Pension costs are 
collected on behalf of County Borough Supplies employees and paid over to 
the pension body. 
  

4. Support Services 
  
 The charges are as follows: - 
 

Description 2013-14 2014-15 

  £ £ 

Accountancy 14,950 12,620 

IT 10,350 9,950 

Creditors / Purchasing  1,510 1,500 

Internal Audit 5,340 3,090 

Human Resources  7,860 6,200 

Legal Services 1,310 2,800 
Procurement  11,470 8,530 

Cash Control  - 10 

TOTAL 52,790 44,700 

 
 
Recharges are calculated on data from the preceding period. The IT recharge 
component of £9,950 (£10,350 in 2013-14) related to ‘IT’ support services 
which includes broadband network, communications, server storing and user 
support services. The Accountancy recharge relates to the cost of 
accountancy support provided to the service during the financial year. 
 
Support services costs of £86k in 2014-15 (£93k in 2013-14) for 
Administrative Building Expenses were also incurred. These costs related to 
premises related expenditure such as energy, water, business rates (NNDR), 
building maintenance, cleaning/domestic, and supplies & services costs and 
are included within the total Premises costs shown in the Comprehensive 
Income & Expenditure Statement. 

 

Page 43



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 31

 

5. Provisions 
 
These represent any provisions for stock obsolescence and bad and doubtful 
debts which have been charged to/from the revenue account in the year as 
follows: 
 

2013-14 
Movement During the 

year 

2014-15 
Inventory Bad 

Debt 
Total Inventory Bad 

Debt 
Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
(23) (5) (28) Opening Balance  (23) (1) (24) 

- 3 3 Write-Offs  - - - 
- 1 1 Contribution to/(from) 

revenue  
3 1 4 

(23) (1) (24) Closing Balance  (20) - (20) 

 
The movement on the inventory provision is netted against the stock balance 
within the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement. 
 

6. Interest Receivable on Balances & Financing Charges 
 

These are calculated on the average cash balance at month end, at the 
average Bank of England base rate plus 1% on overdrawn balances and the 
average BCBC investment rate during the year for surplus balances. 
 
The level of interest rate applied was reviewed in 2014-15 to ensure that the 
additional rate of plus 1% would only apply in instances where there was a 
cash deficit at month end. 
 
In 2014-15 an interest rate of 0.45% was applied (1.5% in 2013-14). 
Due to favourable cash flows experienced during the 2014-15 financial year 
interest of £4,347 was made (£874 in 2013-14). 
 
 

7. Other Income   
 
Other income includes catalogue sponsorship of £89k (£86k in 2013-14), 
contract rebates of £32k (£27k in 2013-14), site recharge income of £7k (£8k 
in 2013-14). In addition, in 2013-14 there was income of £600 in respect of a 
one-off sale of scrap metal. 
 
 

Page 44



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 32

NNootteess  TToo  BBaallaannccee  SShheeeett  
  

8. Inventories 
 
The inventory balance relates to stock of finished goods held at average 
purchase price for trading with the constituent authorities and related 
organisations, net of any provisions. There is a provision for stock 
obsolescence of £20k (£23k in 2013-14) to provide for items of stock 
identified as slow moving or obsolete, as shown in the table below. This 
equates to approximately 5% of the inventory closing valuation as at 31 
March 2015. 
 

2013-14 
Inventories    

2014-15 

£'000     £'000 

449 Balance outstanding at start of year  415 
3,286 Purchases  3,389 
(3312) Recognised as an expense in the year  (3,403) 

(8) Written off balances  (11) 

415 Inventory Balance  at  year-end 390 

(23) Inventory Provision (20) 

392 
Inventory Balance at year-end net of 
provisions 370 

 

 
9. Short Term Debtors 

 
This represents the monies owed to the JSS Committee after making 
provision for debts that might not be recovered. The provision for bad and 
doubtful debts has been calculated to include all debt older than one year at 
percentages dependant on time outstanding.  This is regarded as adequate 
to cover all long-standing debt and a proportion of recent debt, which is 
generally collected in total within six weeks. The provision for bad debts in 
2014-15 was £58 (£1k 2013-14).  
 
The main debtors are listed below: 
 

2013-14 Short Term Debtors 2014-15 
£'000   £'000 

744 Other Local Authorities  524 

154 Other Entities & Individuals 148 

898   672 

 

The debtor balance consists of the following categories – 
 

2013-14 Description 2014-15 

£'000   £'000 

898 Sundry Debtors 670 

- Accumulated absences 2 

898 Total  672 

 

Page 45



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 33

 

10.  Analysis of Changes in Cash during the Year 
 

 Bal B/F 
01/04/14 
£’000 

Bal C/F 
31/03/15 
£’000 

Change 
During 
Year 
£’000 

Cash at Bank (Overdraft) 425 618 193 

 
Cash is held by the Bridgend County Borough Council; the financial services 
provider, as part of its general bank account. No separate bank account 
exists for County Borough Supplies. 
 

  
11. Short Term Creditors  

 
These represent monies owed by the JSS Committee and are analysed as 
follows: 
 

2013-14 Short Term Creditors 2014-15 

£'000   £'000 

143 Central Government Bodies  92 

44 Local Authorities  71 

523 Other Entities & Individuals 191 

710   354 

 
 
The creditor balance consists of the following categories:–  

 

2013-14 Description 2014-15 
£000  £000 

42 Customer Accounts in Credit 58 
522 Reserved Creditors       204 
143 H.M.R.C. – Other Taxes -V.A.T. 92 
3 Accumulated absences - 

710 Total  354 

 
 

12. Usable Reserves 
 

The following notes detail the Usable Reserves for the JSS Committee:- 
 
a)  Accumulated Surplus 

 
The movements on the accumulated surplus account are as follows: 

Page 46



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 34

 

2013-14   2014-15 

£'000   £'000 

745 Balance Brought Forward  920 
- Transfer (to)/from earmarked 
reserve for service modernisation  

- 

175 Surplus/ (Deficit) for year  301 

- 
Adjustments (to)/from unusable  
reserves 

(5) 

920 Balance Carried Forward  1,216 

 

 
b)  Earmarked Reserve for Plant & Equipment 

 
The 2014-15 reserve remains unchanged as development work is on hold 
pending future relocation of the service. 
 

2013-14 
  

2014-15 

£'000   £'000 

88 Balance Brought Forward  88 
- Use of earmarked reserve to fund 
service initiatives 

- 

 - Increase/ (Decrease) in Reserve   - 

88 Balance Carried Forward  88 

 
 

13.  Unusable Reserves 
 
The following notes detail the Unusable Reserves for JSS Committee:- 

 
 
a)  Short Term Accumulated Absences Account 

 
The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would 
otherwise arise on the Accumulated Surplus from accruing for compensated 
absences earned but not taken in the year, e.g. annual leave entitlement 
carried forward at 31 March. Statutory arrangements require that the impact 
on the Accumulated Surplus Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the 
Account. 

Page 47



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 35

 

2013-14   2014-15 

£'000 £'000   £'000 £'000 

  (3) Balance as at 1 April   (3) 

3 
  

Settlement or cancellation of accrual 
made at the end of the proceeding 
year 

3 
 

(3) 
 

Amounts accrued at the end of the 
current year 

2 
 

 - 

Amounts by which officer 
remuneration charged  to the 
Comprehensive Income & 
Expenditure Statement on an 
accruals basis is different from 
remuneration chargeable in year in 
accordance with statutory 
requirements 

 5 

  (3) Balance as at 31 March  2 

 

 
14. Operating Activities  

 
The cash flows for operating activities include the following items:- 
 

2013-14   2014-15 

£'000   £'000 

(176) 
Net (surplus) or deficit on the provision of 
services  (301) 

  Accruals adjustments:  

(34) Increase/(Decrease) in Inventories (22) 
252 Increase/(Decrease) in Debtors/Provisions (226) 

(490) (Increase)/Decrease in Creditors/Provisions 356 

(448)   193 

 

 
15. Related Party Transactions 
 
 There are no material transactions that are not disclosed in the accounts. 

 
Membership of the Committee is composed of two members each from: - 
 
Bridgend C.B.C. 
Caerphilly C.B.C. 
Merthyr Tydfil C.B.C. 
Rhondda Cynon Taf C.B.C. 
 
As a result these Councils are considered related parties of the Joint 
Committee. 
 
Bridgend County Borough Council acts as the host authority for support 
services, including accounting and banking services. 

 

Page 48



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 36

The Rhondda Cynon Taf County Council Superannuation Fund is used for 
pension services. 

 
Further information regarding related party transactions with County Borough 
Supplies are included in notes 4, 6 ,9, 10 and 11. 

 
There are 26 staff (29 in 2013-14), all who are employed by the host 
authority, and there is a full time equivalent of 9 staff employed from agencies 
(4.13 in 2012-13). Included in agency staff employed in 2014-15, were   
agency workers engaged as drivers to meet the demands of the additional 
turnover experienced in the warehouse and to cover one long term absence 
(ranging between 5 and 10 drivers depending on demand), one agency 
worker covering the warehouse duties and one agency worker covering 
administrative duties. Some members and officers may act as school 
governors for schools with which the organisation trades. 
 
The organisation has ownership of two vehicles (which were purchased in 
2007 and are of de-minimis value) and uses Bridgend County Borough 
Council vehicle hire arrangements on a spot hire basis. 
 
The debtor balance at the year end (note 9) and short term creditors (note 
11) includes related party transactions as follows: 
 
 

Related Parties  

2013-14 2014-15 

Debtors  Creditors  Net  Debtors  Creditors  Net  

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Merthyr C.B.C 39 (2) 37 - (2) (2) 
Bridgend C.B.C 119 (18) 101 94 (28) 66 
Caerphilly C.B.C  147 (6) 141 193 (8) 185 
Rhondda Cynon Taf  
C.B.C 220 (14) 206 134 (28) 106 

Total Related Parties  525 (40) 485 421 (66) 355 

 

Sales made to related parties are provided in the following table: 
 

 Related Parties Turnover (Sales) 2013-14 2014-15 

  £'000 £'000 

Merthyr C.B.C 417 335 

Bridgend C.B.C 1,250 1,111 

Caerphilly C.B.C 1,577 1,508 

Rhondda Cynon Taf C.B.C 2,205 2,114 

Total Related Parties Turnover  5,449 5,068 

There were no other material balances at the year end. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 37

 
16. External audit costs 

 
In 2014-15 the JSS incurred the following fees relating to external audit and 
inspection charged by the Wales Audit Office:- 
 
        

2013-14 Description 2014-15 

£   £ 

8,000 Audit Fee 8,000 

 
17.   Financial Instruments Disclosures- Fair Values of Assets and Liabilities  

 
A Financial Instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of    
one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another.  

 
    The following categories of financial instruments are carried in the balance  
 Sheet: 

  Disclosure 
Note Ref 

31 March 2015 31 March 2014 

  

Carrying 
amount 
£'000 

Fair 
value 
£'000 

Carrying 
amount 
£'000 

Fair 
value 
£'000 

Short-term creditors  
Cash at Bank  

11 
10 

(354) 
618 

(354) 
618 

(710) 
425 

(710) 
425 

Short-term debtors  9 672 672 898 898 

   936 936 613 613 

 
Short term creditors and debtors are carried at book value as this is a fair  
approximation of their value. The Catalogue Supplies Services provides a  
single source supplies facility predominately for its corporate  
customers (partnering authorities) and schools, and as such there is  
minimum risk that debtors will not be realised when due. In addition a  
provision is held in the Balance Sheet (Note 5) which is regarded as  
adequate to cover all long standing debt. 
 
The Service is not exposed to significant market risk as interest received on 
cash is paid at the average rate of BCBC investments which was 0.45% in 
2014-15.  A 0.1% decrease in investment rate would reduce interest received 
on the year-end balance of £672,000 by £670. 
 
The Service is not exposed to significant liquidity risk as its only financial  
liabilities are short term creditors. 

  
18. Events After the Balance Sheet Date 
 

       Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and  
 unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the   
 date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue. There were no 
 post balance sheet events impacting on the Catalogue Supplies Service 
Joint  Committee. 

 
 

Page 50



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 38

19. Contingent Liabilities  
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the 
authority a possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the 
occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the authority. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances 
where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that 
an outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation 
cannot be measured reliably. 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in 
a note to the accounts. There were no Contingent Liabilities impacting on the 
Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee. 
 

20. Accounting Standards that have been Issued but not yet Adopted 

There are no standards issued but not yet adopted with material impact on 
the Statement of Accounts. 

21. Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 
 
There are no critical judgements in applying accounting policies or major 
sources of estimation uncertainty within the Statement of Accounts. 
 

22. Amounts Reported for Resource Allocation Decisions 

The analysis of income and expenditure by service on the face of the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is that specified by the 
Service Reporting Code of Practice. This is in the format in which information 
is reported to the Joint Committee with no segmental analysis bring reported 
as the Committee only has one operating segment. However, these reports 
are prepared on a different basis from the accounting policies used in the 
financial statements. In particular: 

• they exclude any accrual in respect of the cost of holiday entitlements 
earned by employees but not taken before the year-end. 

The income and expenditure of the JSS recorded in the budget reported to 
the Joint Committee, is as follows: 

Catalogue Supplies Service Income and Expenditure  
2013-14 2014-15 

£'000 £'000 

Fees, charges & other service income (1,394) (1,550) 

Total Income (1,394) (1,550) 

Employee expenses 792 782 
Other operating expenses 373 427 
Support Service Recharges 53 45 

Total operating expenses 1,218 1,254 

   

Net Cost of Services (176) (296) 

Reconciliation of Reported Income and Expenditure to Cost of Services 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

Page 51



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 39

 

The below reconciliation shows how the figures in the analysis of reported 
income and expenditure relate to the amounts included in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure is:- 

 

Reconciliation to Net Cost of Services in 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement  

2013-14 2014-15 

£'000 £'000 

Cost of Services in Service Analysis (176) (296) 
Add amounts not reported to management - (5) 

Net Cost of Services in Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (176) (301) 

 

Page 52



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 40

 

GGlloossssaarryy  ooff  TTeerrmmss 
 
Accrual 
An accrual is a sum shown in the accounts representing income or expenditure for the 
accounting period but which was not actually received or paid as at the date of the balance 
sheet. 
 
Audit 
An audit is an independent examination of the organisation’s accounts. 
 
Balance Sheet 
The balance sheet combines the assets, liabilities and other balances of all our services, at 
the end of the financial year, 31st March. 
 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
This account records day-to-day spending and income on items such as salaries and 
wages, running costs of services and the financing of capital expenditure. 
 
Service Reporting Code of Practice (SeRCOP) 
The Service Reporting Code of Practice provides a consistent framework for reporting local 
authority data. SeRCOP is reviewed annually by the appropriate regulating body to ensure 
that it develops in line with the needs of modern local government, Transparency, Best 
Value and public services reform.  
 
Budget 
A budget (or estimate) is a plan of income and spending, based upon which council tax is 
set. Actual expenditure and income is subsequently monitored against this plan. 
 
Cash flow Statement 
This is a statement that summarizes the movements in cash during the year. 
 
Creditor 
A creditor is an organisation / someone owed money by the Council at the end of the 
financial year for goods / services received during the financial year or previous years. 
 
Current assets 
These are short-term assets that are available for the Council to use in the following 
accounting year. 
 
Current liabilities  
These are short-term liabilities that are due for payment by the Council in the following 
accounting year. 
 
Debtor 
A debtor is an organisation / someone who owed the Council money at the end of the 
financial year for goods / services received during the financial year or previous years. 
 
Earmarked Reserve 
These are reserves set aside for a specific purpose.  
 
Financial Year  
This is the accounting period. For County Borough Supplies it starts on 1st April and 
finishes on 31st March of the following year. 
 
 

Page 53



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 41

International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 
Financial regulations to be followed as set by the Accounting Standards Board (ASB). 
 
Inventories 
Inventories are raw materials purchased for day to day use. The value of these items that 
have not been used at the end of the financial year are shown as current assets in the 
balance sheet. 
 
JSS 
County Borough Supplies is a Joint Supplies Service (JSS). Also known as the Catalogue 
Supplies Services Joint Committee.   
 
Liability 
A liability is an amount payable at some time in the future. 
 
Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS) 
This statement shows the movement in the year on different reserves held by the Authority. 
 
Net Realisable Value 
The selling price of an asset, reduced by the relevant (direct) cost of selling it. 
 
National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) 
The NNDR, or Business Rate, is the charge to occupiers of business premises. The money 
collected is paid to the Welsh Government and redistributed to individual authorities in 
proportion to their adult population. 
 
Operating assets 
These are assets used in the running / provision of services. 
 
Operating leases 
These are leases where risks of ownership of the asset remain with the owner. 
 
Post balance sheet events  
Post balance sheet items are those that arise after the Balance Sheet date. These are items 
that did not exist at the time the Balance Sheet was prepared but should be disclosed if they 
are relevant to the fair presentation of the accounts. 
 

Prior year adjustment 
Those material adjustments applicable to prior years arising from changes in accounting 
policies or from the correction of fundamental errors. 
 
Provision 
A provision is an amount we set aside in our accounts for expected liabilities which we 
cannot measure accurately. 
 
Related party transactions 
These are the transfer of assets or liabilities or the performance of services by, to or for a 
related party no matter whether a charge is made. 
 
Reserves 
These are the sums set aside to meet future expenditure.  They may be earmarked to fund 
specific expenditure or be held as general reserves to fund non specific future expenditure. 
 
Revenue account 
This is an account which records our day to day spending and income on items such as 

salaries and wages, running costs of services and the financing of capital 
expenditure. 

Page 54



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 42

 
Work in progress (WIP) 
Work in progress is the value of work undertaken on an unfinished project at the end of the 
financial year, which has not yet been charged to the revenue account. 

Page 55



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 43

 
Independent auditor’s report to the Members of Catalogue Supplies Service Joint 
Committee 
 
I have audited the accounting statements and related notes of Catalogue Supplies Service 
Joint Committee for the year ended 31 March 2015 under the Public Audit (Wales) Act 
2004.  
Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee’s accounting statements comprise the 
Movement in Reserves Statement, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 
the Balance Sheet and the Cash Flow Statement, and the related notes.  
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2014-15 
based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

Respective responsibilities of the responsible financial officer and the independent 
auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 
set out on page 8, the responsible financial officer is responsible for the preparation of the 
statement of accounts, which gives a true and fair view. 
My responsibility is to audit the accounting statements and related notes in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require me to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the accounting statements 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the accounting 
statements and related notes sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the accounting 
statements and related notes are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud 
or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee’s circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by the responsible financial officer and the overall presentation of the accounting 
statements and related notes. 
In addition, I read all the financial and non-financial information in the Explanatory Foreword 
to identify material inconsistencies with the audited accounting statements and related 
notes. If I become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies, I 
consider the implications for my report.  

Opinion on the accounting statements of Catalogue Supplies Service Joint 
Committee 

In my opinion the accounting statements and related notes:  

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of Catalogue Supplies Service Joint 
Committee as at 31 March 2015 and of its income and expenditure for the year then 
ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2014-15. 

Opinion on other matters 

In my opinion, the information contained in the Explanatory Foreword for the financial year 
for which the accounting statements and related notes are prepared is consistent with the 
accounting statements and related notes. 

 

Matters on which I report by exception 

Page 56



Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee -Statement of Accounts 2014-15 

 44

I have nothing to report in respect of the Governance Statement on which I report to you if, 
in my opinion, it does not reflect compliance with ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government: Framework’ published by CIPFA/SOLACE in June 2007, or if the statement is 
misleading or inconsistent with other information I am aware of from my audit.  

Certificate of completion of audit 

I certify that I have completed the audit of the accounts of Catalogue Supplies Service Joint 
Committee in accordance with the requirements of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and 
the Auditor General for Wales’ Code of Audit Practice. 
 
 
 
 
 
For and on behalf of 
Huw Vaughan Thomas 
Auditor General for Wales 
24 Cathedral Road 
Cardiff 
CF11 9LJ 
 
29   September 2015 
 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



County Borough Supplies 

Waterton 

Bridgend  

CF31 3YR 

 

Tel: (01656) 766511 

Fax: (01656) 766401  

Cyflenwi’r Fwrdeistref Sirol 

Waterton 

Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr 

CF31 3YR 

 

Ffon: (01656) 766511 

Ffacs: (01656) 766401 

 

 
Joint Supplies Service 

 
Bridgend County Borough Council 

Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council 

  
Gwasanaethau Cyflenwi Cyfunol 
 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda Cynon Taff 

 

 

Our Ref: CBS/  Date: 24 September 2015  
 
Auditor General for Wales   
Wales Audit Office  
24 Cathedral Road  
Cardiff  
CF11 9LJ  

Copy to: KPMG LLP, 3 Assembly Square, Britannia Quay, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4AX  
 

Dear Sirs  

Representations regarding the 2014-15 financial 
statements 

This letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of Catalogue 

Supplies Service Joint Committee for the year ended 31 March 2015 for the purpose of 

expressing an opinion on their truth and fairness and their proper preparation. 

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made enquiries as we 

consider sufficient, we can make the following representations to you. 

 

Management Representations  

Responsibilities 

We have fulfilled our responsibilities for:  
• the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with legislative requirements 

and the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2014-15; 
in particular the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance therewith.  

• The design, implementation, maintenance and review of internal control to prevent and 
detect fraud and error.  

Information Provided:  

We have provided you with:  

• full access to:  

- all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial 

statements such as books of account and supporting documentation, minutes of meetings 

and other matters;  

- additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; and 

- unrestricted access to staff from whom you determined it necessary to obtain audit 

evidence. 

Page 59



County Borough Supplies 

Waterton 

Bridgend  

CF31 3YR 

 

Tel: (01656) 766511 

Fax: (01656) 766401  

Cyflenwi’r Fwrdeistref Sirol 

Waterton 

Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr 

CF31 3YR 

 

Ffon: (01656) 766511 

Ffacs: (01656) 766401 

 

 
Joint Supplies Service 

 
Bridgend County Borough Council 

Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council 

  
Gwasanaethau Cyflenwi Cyfunol 
 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda Cynon Taff 

 

• The results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 

materially misstated as a result of fraud; 

• Our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and that affects 

Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee and involves: 

‒ management; 

‒ employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 

‒ others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

• Our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the financial 

statements communicated by employees, former employees, regulators or others; 

• Our knowledge of all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance 

with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing the 

financial statements; and 

• The identity of all related parties and all the related party relationships and transactions 

of which we are aware 

Financial statement representations 

All transactions, assets and liabilities have been recorded in the accounting records and are 

reflected in the financial statements. 

Significant assumptions used in making accounting estimates, including those measured at 

fair value, are reasonable. 

Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and 

disclosed. 

All events occurring subsequent to the reporting date which require adjustment or disclosure 

have been adjusted for or disclosed. 

All known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when 

preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to the auditor and accounted for and 

disclosed in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. 

The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions. There have 

been no uncorrected misstatements identified during the audit. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. This is considered 

appropriate by the Joint Committee, which has committed to the continuation of trading of 

County Borough Supplies for at least 12 months from the date of signing the financial 

statements. 

 
 

 

Representations by Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee 
 

Page 60



County Borough Supplies 

Waterton 

Bridgend  

CF31 3YR 

 

Tel: (01656) 766511 

Fax: (01656) 766401  

Cyflenwi’r Fwrdeistref Sirol 

Waterton 

Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr 

CF31 3YR 

 

Ffon: (01656) 766511 

Ffacs: (01656) 766401 

 

 
Joint Supplies Service 

 
Bridgend County Borough Council 

Caerphilly County Borough Council 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council 

  
Gwasanaethau Cyflenwi Cyfunol 
 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Caerffili 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda Cynon Taff 

 

We acknowledge that the representations made by management, above, have been 

discussed with us. 

We acknowledge our responsibility for the preparation of true and fair financial statements in 

accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. The financial statements were 

approved by Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee on 24 September 2015. 

We confirm that we have taken all the steps that we ought to have taken in order to make 

ourselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been 

communicated to you. We confirm that, as far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit 

information of which you are unaware. 

 
 
Signed by: 
 
 
 
 
 

Signed by: 

NESS YOUNG   
 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR RESOURCES,  
S151 OFFICER BRIDGEND COUNTY 
BOROUGH COUNCIL  
 
TREASURER TO CATALOGUE SUPPLIES  
SERVICE JOINT COMMITTEE 
 
[Officer who signs on behalf of management] 

Chairperson of the Joint Committee  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
[Officer or Member who signs on behalf of 
those charged with governance] 
 

 

Date: 24 September 2015 
 

 

Date: 24 September 2015 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Audit of Financial Statements Report 

Catalogue Supplies Service Joint 
Committee 

Audit year: 2014-15 

Issued: September 2015 

Document reference: CSSAFSR2015 

 
 

Page 63



Status of report 

Page 2 of 12 - Audit of Financial Statements Report - Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee 

This document has been prepared for the internal use of Catalogue Supplies Service Joint 
Committee as part of work performed in accordance with the statutory functions. 

No responsibility is taken by the Auditor General or the staff of the Wales Audit Office in 
relation to any member, director, officer or other employee in their individual capacity, or to 
any third party. 

In the event of receiving a request for information to which this document may be relevant, 
attention is drawn to the Code of Practice issued under section 45 of the Freedom of 
Information Act 2000. The section 45 Code sets out the practice in the handling of requests 
that is expected of public authorities, including consultation with relevant third parties. In 
relation to this document, the Auditor General for Wales and the Wales Audit Office are 
relevant third parties. Any enquiries regarding disclosure or re-use of this document should 
be sent to the Wales Audit Office at infoofficer@wao.gov.uk. 

This audit was delivered by KPMG LLP on behalf of the Auditor General.  The audit team 
comprised Darren Gilbert (Director), Matthew Arthur (Manager) and Craig Brooke (In-
charge). 

 

 

Page 64

mailto:infoofficer@wao.gov.uk


Contents 

Page 3 of 12 - Audit of Financial Statements Report - Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee 

The Auditor General intends to issue an unqualified audit report on your financial 
statements. There are some issues to report to you prior to their approval. 

 

Summary report  

Introduction 4 

Status of the audit 4 

Proposed audit report 4 

Significant issues arising from the audit 5 

Independence and objectivity 5 

Appendices  

1. Final Letter of Representation 6 

2. Proposed audit report of the Auditor General to the Catalogue Supplies 
Service Joint Committee  

9 

3. Internal Control Weaknesses and Recommendations 11 

Page 65



Summary Report 

Page 4 of 12 - Audit of Financial Statements Report - Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee 

Introduction 
1. The Auditor General is responsible for providing an opinion on whether the financial 

statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Catalogue Supplies 
Service Joint Committee at 31 March 2015 and its income and expenditure for the year 
then ended. 

2. We do not try to obtain absolute assurance that the financial statements are correctly 
stated, but adopt the concept of materiality. In planning and conducting the audit, we 
seek to identify material misstatements in your financial statements, namely, those that 
might result in a reader of the accounts being misled. 

3. The quantitative levels at which we judge such misstatements to be material for 
Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee is £65,000. Whether an item is judged to 
be material can also be affected by certain qualitative issues such as legal and 
regulatory requirements and political sensitivity. 

4. International Standard on Auditing (ISA) 260 requires us to report certain matters 
arising from the audit of the financial statements to those charged with governance of 
a body in sufficient time to enable appropriate action. 

5. This report sets out for consideration the matters arising from the audit of the financial 
statements of Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee, for 2014-15, that require 
reporting under ISA 260. 

Status of the audit 
6. We received the draft financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2015 prior to 

the deadline of 30 June 2015, and we have now substantially completed the audit 
work. 

7. We are reporting to you the more significant issues arising from the audit, which we 
believe you must consider prior to approval of the financial statements. The audit team 
has already discussed these issues with officers. 

Proposed audit report 
8. It is the Auditor General’s intention to issue an unqualified audit report on the financial 

statements once you have provided us with a Letter of Representation based on that 
set out in Appendix 1. 

9. The proposed audit report is set out in Appendix 2. 

Page 66



 

Page 5 of 12 - Audit of Financial Statements Report - Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee 

Significant issues arising from the audit 

Misstatements  
10. There are no misstatements identified in the financial statements, corrected or 

uncorrected. 

Other significant issues arising from the audit 
11. In the course of the audit, we consider a number of matters both qualitative and 

quantitative relating to the accounts and report any significant issues arising to you. 
There were no issues arising in these areas this year: 
• We have no concerns about the qualitative aspects of your accounting 

practices and financial reporting. Generally, we found the information 
provided to be relevant, reliable, comparable, material and easy to understand. 
We concluded that accounting policies and estimates are appropriate and 
financial statement disclosures unbiased, fair and clear. 

• We did not encounter any significant difficulties during the audit.  We 
received information in a timely and helpful manner and were not restricted in our 
work. 

• There were no significant matters discussed and corresponded upon with 
management which we need to report to you.   

• There are no other matters significant to the oversight of the financial 
reporting process that we need to report to you.  

• We did not identify any material weaknesses in your internal controls. We 
report any significant control deficiencies where you are not already aware of 
them or where they may be symptomatic of broader weaknesses in the overall 
control environment, in Appendix 3. 

• There are not any other matters specifically required by auditing standards 
to be communicated to those charged with governance.  

Independence and objectivity 
12. As part of the finalisation process, we are required to provide you with representations 

concerning our independence. 
13. We have complied with ethical standards and in our professional judgment, we are 

independent and our objectivity is not compromised. There are no relationships 
between the Auditor General, Wales Audit Office or KPMG LLP and Catalogue 
Supplies Service Joint Committee that we consider to bear on our objectivity and 
independence.

Page 67



Appendix 1 

Page 6 of 12 - Audit of Financial Statements Report - Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee 

Final Letter of Representation 
 
[Audited body’s letterhead] 
 
Auditor General for Wales 
Wales Audit Office 
24 Cathedral Road 
Cardiff 
CF11 9LJ 
 
KPMG LLP 
3 Assembly Square 
Britannia Quay 
Cardiff Bay 
CF10 4AX 
 

24 September 2015 

Representations regarding the 2014-15 financial 
statements 
This letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of Catalogue 
Supplies Service Joint Committee for the year ended 31 March 2015 for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on their truth and fairness and their proper preparation. 
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made enquiries as we 
consider sufficient, we can make the following representations to you. 

Management representations 

Responsibilities 
We have fulfilled our responsibilities for:  
• the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with legislative requirements 

and the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2014-
15; in particular the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance 
therewith.  

Page 68



 

Page 7 of 12 - Audit of Financial Statements Report - Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee 

• The design, implementation, maintenance and review of internal control to prevent and 
detect fraud and error.

 

Information provided 
We have provided you with: 
• Full access to: 

‒ all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the 
financial statements such as books of account and supporting documentation, 
minutes of meetings and other matters; 

‒ additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the 
audit; and 

‒ unrestricted access to staff from whom you determined it necessary to obtain 
audit evidence. 

• The results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be 
materially misstated as a result of fraud. 

• Our knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and that affects 
Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee and involves: 
‒ management; 
‒ employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 
‒ others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

• Our knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the financial 
statements communicated by employees, former employees, regulators or others. 

• Our knowledge of all known instances of non-compliance or suspected  
non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered  
when preparing the financial statements. 

• The identity of all related parties and all the related party relationships and transactions 
of which we are aware. 

Financial statement representations 
All transactions, assets and liabilities have been recorded in the accounting records and are 
reflected in the financial statements. 
Significant assumptions used in making accounting estimates, including those measured at 
fair value, are reasonable. 
Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and 
disclosed. 
All events occurring subsequent to the reporting date which require adjustment or disclosure 
have been adjusted for or disclosed. 

Page 69



 

Page 8 of 12 - Audit of Financial Statements Report - Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee 

All known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when 
preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to the auditor and accounted for and 
disclosed in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. 
The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions. There 
have been no uncorrected misstatements identified during the audit. 
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis. This is considered 
appropriate by the Joint Committee, which has committed to the continuation of trading of 
County Borough Supplies for at least 12 months from the date of signing the financial 
statements. 

Representations by the Audit Committee 
We acknowledge that the representations made by management, above, have been 
discussed with us. 
We acknowledge our responsibility for the preparation of true and fair financial statements in 
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. The financial statements were 
approved by Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee on 24 September 2015. 
We confirm that we have taken all the steps that we ought to have taken in order to make 
ourselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that it has been 
communicated to you. We confirm that, as far as we are aware, there is no relevant audit 
information of which you are unaware. 
 
 

Signed by: Signed by: 

Officer who signs on behalf of management 
 
 
 

Officer or Member who signs on behalf of 
those charged with governance 

Date: 24 September 2015 Date: 24 September 2015 

Page 70



Appendix 2 

Page 9 of 12 - Audit of Financial Statements Report - Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee 

Proposed audit report of the Auditor General to 
Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee 

Independent auditor’s report to the Members of Catalogue Supplies Service Joint 
Committee 

I have audited the accounting statements and related notes of Catalogue Supplies Service 
Joint Committee for the year ended 31 March 2015 under the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004.  
Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee’s accounting statements comprise the 
Movement in Reserves Statement, the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 
the Balance Sheet and the Cash Flow Statement, and the related notes.  
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 
and the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2014-15 
based on International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). 

Respective responsibilities of the responsible financial officer and the independent 
auditor 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 
set out on page 8, the responsible financial officer is responsible for the preparation of the 
statement of accounts, which gives a true and fair view. 
My responsibility is to audit the accounting statements and related notes in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards 
require me to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the accounting statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the accounting 
statements and related notes sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the accounting 
statements and related notes are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud 
or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to 
Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee’s circumstances and have been consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by the responsible financial officer and the overall presentation of the accounting 
statements and related notes. 
In addition, I read all the financial and non-financial information in the Explanatory Foreword 
to identify material inconsistencies with the audited accounting statements and related notes. 
If I become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies, I consider the 
implications for my report.  

Opinion on the accounting statements of Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee 

In my opinion the accounting statements and related notes:  

Page 71



 

Page 10 of 12 - Audit of Financial Statements Report - Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of Catalogue Supplies Service Joint 
Committee as at 31 March 2015 and of its income and expenditure for the year then 
ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2014-15. 

Opinion on other matters 
In my opinion, the information contained in the Explanatory Foreword for the financial year 
for which the accounting statements and related notes are prepared is consistent with the 
accounting statements and related notes. 

Matters on which I report by exception 
I have nothing to report in respect of the Governance Statement on which I report to you if, in 
my opinion, it does not reflect compliance with ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government: Framework’ published by CIPFA/SOLACE in June 2007, or if the statement is 
misleading or inconsistent with other information I am aware of from my audit.  

Certificate of completion of audit 

I certify that I have completed the audit of the accounts of Catalogue Supplies Service Joint 
Committee in accordance with the requirements of the Public Audit (Wales) Act 2004 and 
the Auditor General for Wales’ Code of Audit Practice. 
 
 
 
 
 
For and on behalf of 
Huw Vaughan Thomas 
Auditor General for Wales 
24 Cathedral Road 
Cardiff 
CF11 9LJ 
 
    September 2015 
 

Page 72



Appendix 3 

Page 11 of 12 - Audit of Financial Statements Report - Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee 

Internal Control Weaknesses and Recommendations 
We report any significant control deficiencies where you are not already aware of them or where they 
may be symptomatic of broader weaknesses in the overall control environment. We have not 
identified any significant control deficiencies during the 2014/15 audit. 

During our audit we identified the following internal control deficiency that was not deemed material, 
but we consider should be drawn to your attention as follows: 

 

Observation Recommendation Management Response 

Stock Recount 
We identified two issues in relation 
to stock during our audit: 
1) We attended the stock count and 
performed some sample recounting 
of the test counts; however a 
recount took place after the auditor 
check was performed and 
subsequently the population tested 
by the auditor was updated, which 
resulted in some issues when tying 
in our sampled balance to the stock 
listing. 
The total value of the items 
included in this recount is £37k.  
 
2) Quantities that were counted in 
the recount were not correctly input 
into the system, resulting in an error 
which was not present at the time 
of the audit sample test. 
We have identified that the 
incorrect input error represents 
1.1% of the sample tested. If this 
was extrapolated over the entire 
stock population there would be an 
error of £4,290 (390k*1.1%) which 
would not be a material error.  
However, there appears to have 
been a failure in the stock count 
control process to ensure that stock 
balances are updated accurately 
following the stocktake, which has 
resulted in this error. 
 

Checks should be put in 
place to ensure that stock 
balances are updated 
accurately with the results 
of the stock count. 
In addition, the auditors 
should be made aware of 
the process including any 
recounts so that timely 
attendance can be 
arranged to count the final 
agreed stock count 
balances. 

The Stock Count Instructions 
will be updated to include the 
recount process, ensuring 
auditors are aware of the 
rechecking systems that are in 
place to reduce the number of 
errors arising from the original 
recount. 
 
Currently the stock count 
process is manual and involves 
the capture of over 3,000 
counted stock items to be 
entered onto a spreadsheet 
before being uploaded. 
However, to minimise the risk of 
error and try to ensure that 
stock balances are updated 
correctly, a second officer will 
undertake a sample check of 
the final counted figures before 
the inventory balances are 
updated. 

 
 
 

Page 73



 

 

 

Page 74



 

 

 

    BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
CATALOGUE SUPPLIES SERVICE JOINT COMMITTEE  

 
24 SEPTEMBER 2015 

 
REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT CHIEF EXECUTIVE – LEGAL AND REGULATORY 

SERVICES 

 

SERVICE TRADING AND OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE  
 

1. Purpose of Report  

 
The purpose of the report is to appraise Members of the Service trading and 
operational performance during the financial year to date.  

 
2. Connection to Corporate Improvement Objectives / Other Corporate 

Priorities. 
 
2.1 The Joint Supplies Service (JSS) provides a purchasing and supply service 

which secures savings to corporate customers and schools through 
economies of scale and thereby contributes to the financial prudence of the 
Authority.  

  
3. Background 
 
3.1 The JSS provides a single source supplies facility for each of the partnering 

Authorities, through delivery via stores and a direct sourcing function for items 
of common and repetitive spend. It demonstrates savings to customers and 
schools through economies of scale.  

 
4. Current situation/proposal  
 
4.1 Performance Review – April-August 2015-16 
 
4.1.1  Service Turnover: 2015-16 April-August (week 21) 
 
4.1.1.1 As part of the regular reports to the Joint Committee, the value of 

Service sales turnover for the relevant period, as measured against the 
sales target (together with comparison to the same period last year) is 
outlined below. 
 

4.1.1.2 The five month period has been positive with sales achieving target 
overall, as summarised in the following tables, with a significant 
increase in Catalogue Direct turnover and the continued growth in use 
of the JSS arrangements by schools in the Cardiff and Vale of 
Glamorgan authorities and Other authorities / third sector customers. 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 7



 

 

 

 
 
Table 1:  Turnover to August (Order book)  
 

 Actual 
April-Aug 
2014-15 

 
£,000 

Target  
April- Aug 
2015-16 

 
£,000 

Actual 
April-Aug 
2015-16 

 
£,000 

% Actual to 
target 

Catalogue Stores 2,032 1,996 2,002 +0.3% 

Catalogue Direct 629 624 821 +31.52% 

Totals 2,661 2,620 2,823 +7.7% 

 
 
 Table 2:  Turnover (Order book) – Full Year Comparison  
  
 Actual  

2014-15 
 
 
 

£,000 

Full-Year 
Target  
2015-16 

 
 

£,000 

Actual to 
August 
2015-16 

 
 

£,000 

Variance  
 
 
 
 

£’000 

% of Target 
to be 

achieved in 
remaining 
31 wks 

Total  6,619 6,402 2,823 3,579 56% 

 
 

 Table 3: Turnover (Order book) by Customer Area (to August) 
 

Year 

B
ri

d
g

e
n

d
 

C
a

e
rp

h
il
ly

 

M
e

rt
h

y
r 

T
y

d
fi

l 

R
h

o
n

d
d

a
 

C
y

n
o

n
 T

a
f 

C
a

rd
if

f 

N
e

a
th

-P
o

rt
 

T
a

lb
o

t 

S
w

a
n

s
e

a
 

 

V
a

le
 o

f 

G
la

m
o

rg
a

n
 

 

O
th

e
r 

T
o

ta
l 

 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

2015-16 501 638 156 752 407 56 58 109 146 2,823 

2014-15 469 566 153 806 319 40 73 102 133 2,661 

 

  
 
4.1.1.3 Overall, Joint Authority turnover has increased compared to the last 

financial year, due, in the main, to several educational refurbishment 
projects undertaken in most authorities, helping to offset both the 
continuing Local Government budget reductions and the Service’s 
enhanced catalogue range of economy items that historically attract a 
smaller turnover value than their branded counterparts 
 

4.1.1.4 Also, overall turnover within the non-Joint Authority areas has seen a 
favourable increase compared to the previous financial year period, 
highlighting the continuing expansion of use of the Service outside its 
core areas.  

 

Page 76



 

 

 

 
4.1.2  Summary Financial Position at 31 August 2015. 
 
4.1.2.1 A summary of revenue budget expenditure/income for the financial year 

to 31 August 2015 is provided below for information. 
 
  

Table 4: Comparison of budget against projected spend at 31 Aug 2015 
 

Expenditure Group 
 

Budget 
2015-16  

 
 

£,000 

Adjusted 
Actual to 31 
Aug 2015 

 
£,000 

Projected 
Outturn 
2015-16     

 
£,000           

Projected 
Over/(Under) 

Spend 
2015-16 
£,000 

Employees 797 343 768 (29) 

Premises 110 36 86 (24) 

Transport 136 57 146 10 

Supplies & Services 155 59 159 4 

Third Party Payments 25 11 25 0 

Finance/Support 
Services 

 54 
 

19 46 (8) 

Total Expenditure 1,277 525 1,230 (47) 

     

Trading (1,272) (600) (1,272) 0 

Non Trading (100) (46) (110) (10) 

Total Net Income (1,372) (646) (1,382) (10) 

     

Deficit/(Surplus) (95) (121) (152) (57) 

 
4.1.2.2  Expenditure during the first five months is generally as anticipated with 

some notable exceptions to overall projected outturn as follows: 
 
4.1.2.2.1 Employees – an expected underspend of £23,000 due to decreased 

staff costs. 
 
4.1.2.2.2 Premises – an expected underspend of £24,000 due to an extension of 

shared building costs with other departments located at County 
Borough Supplies. 

 
4.1.2.2.3 Transport – an expected increase in transport costs due to expanded 

usage of the Service in non-Joint Authority areas. 
 
4.1.2.2.4 Finance/Support Services – an expected underspend of £8,000 from a 

reduction in recharges due to reduced corporate budgets.  
 
4.1.2.3 For comparative purposes, the Adjusted Actual financial position for the 

April to August period in 2014 was a surplus of £146,000 and in the 
same period for 2013 was a surplus of £107,000. 

 
 

Page 77



 

 

 

 
4.1.3  Service Performance Indicators 
 
4.1.3.1 Monitoring reports are presented to the Joint Committee in relation to 

core performance indicators of the Service, with the following summary 
information provided for the year to 31 August 2015, together with the 
final outcomes for 2014-15 for comparison. 

 
 
 Table 5: Service Performance Indicators for 2015-16 
  

Performance Indicator 
 

Service Target 2014-15            
(Full Year) 

2015 
(To 31 Aug) 

Product Availability 
Average stock level available for customers 
on first request 

96% 96.72% 95.73% 

Stockholding Value 
Average stock value retained during the 
trading year. 

8 weeks stock 
equivalent  

9.4 weeks 
(£613k)         

8.6 weeks 
(£615k) 

Debt Management 
Owed debt to the JSS during trading year 

Not greater than 
5.5 weeks credit 

income 

3.4 weeks         
(Average £423k) 

3.9 weeks 
(Average £499k) 

 
Table 6: Order Breakdown by Value Banding 
 

 
Row Labels   £0 - £25 £26 - £50 £51 - £100 £100 plus Grand Total 

Corporate No 1,424 956 1,090 1,803 5,273 

 % 27.0 18.1 20.7 34.2  

Education No 1,618 1,428 1,788 4,443 9,227 

 % 17.4 15.4 19.3 47.9  

Other No 200 147 162 200  

 % 28.2 20.7 22.8 28.2  

Grand Total No 3,242 2,531 3,040 6,446 15,259 

  % 21.2 16.6 19.9 42.2  

 
4.1.3.2 A further performance indicator has been requested i.e. monitoring the 

success of the Service’s sales and marketing strategies, with a target of 
achieving 50 new customers using the organisation over the course of 
the financial year. 

 
4.1.3.3 The Service has already achieved the target of 50 new customers with 

the majority located in Cardiff (£46,000) and England (£27,000) 
geographical areas. 

 
Table 7: New Customers Analysis Apr-Aug 2015 
 

Target Achieved Remaining Turnover 

50 75 0 (50% over target) £77,901 

Page 78



 

 

 

 
4.1.4  E-enablement Monitoring 
 
4.1.4.1 A strategic objective of the JSS, as part of the e-supply programme, is 

the increase and enhancement of electronic transacting with customers 
to include e-ordering, e-sales invoicing/payment and e-communications 
generally, to provide current and easily accessible information and 
enhanced marketing opportunity. 

   
4.1.4.2 The key components in the development are the JSS interactive web-

site, the national public sector eProcurement Service (ePs) portal and 
the enhancement of the Service back-office IT system. 

 
 

Table 8: Sales Order Analysis 
 

Transaction Medium 2015 Apr-Aug 2014/15 (Full Year) 

eProcurement Service (ePs) 23.2% 25.7% 

JSS Web Site 16.5% 15.2% 

Other – e-mail, fax, mail, telephone 60.3% 59.1% 

 
4.1.4.3 eProcurement Service (ePs) Portal 
  The national ePs portal is the primary e-trading medium to the JSS at 

this time, providing an increasing volume of electronic purchase 
transactions from the four joint authorities, as the facility is rolled-out, 
as well as other ePs users, primarily from the South Wales area. 

 
4.1.4.4 Analysis of the customer usage of the portal is provided below with the 

overall value of orders being £655,000 
 
  

Table 9: ePs User Analysis April to August 2015 
 

Area CCBC MTCBC RCTCBC Cardiff Swansea V of G SWP Gwalia 

% 36.19 7.19 33.85 7.90 5.18 4.91 4.38 0.39 

Value £236,902 £47,058 £221,632 £51,713 £33,892 £32,123 £28,653 £2,560 

Orders 1992 391 1522 192 241 149 69 33 

 
 
 
4.1.4.5 JSS Web Site 
  The JSS web site provides an interactive, real-time, catalogue product 

ordering / card payment facility and content information resource 
available to authorised customers, with the prime target group for the e-
trading function being the educational sector and independent 
customers 

 
4.1.4.6 The value of orders placed via the website for the April to August 2015 

period was £466,000. 

Page 79



 

 

 

 
Table 10: Web site User Analysis April to August 2015 
 

BCBC CCBC MTCBC RCTCBC Cardiff NPT Swansea V of G Other 

11.5% 18.5% 11.1% 40.4% 5.8% 3.4% 2.6% 5.2% 1.6% 

 
4.1.4.7 Purchase Card Transactions 

 The JSS provides a facility for payment by Purchase Card via both the 
on-line web-site and by direct contact with County Borough Supplies 
(CBS). 
 

4.1.4.8 Payment by purchasing card for the April to August 2015 period 
accounted for 5.5% of all transactions, a total of £155,500. For 
comparison purposes, payment by purchasing card for the full 2014/15 
financial period was 3.8% (£250,000) 

 
Table 11: Purchase Card Usage Analysis April to August 2015 
 

BCBC CCBC MTCBC RCTCBC Other 

0.1% 0.35% Nil 86.6% 13% 

 
 
4.1.5  Absence Monitoring 
  April-August 2015 
 
4.1.5.1 A summary of sickness absence for the current financial year is 

detailed below for information. 
 

Table 12: Absence Monitoring April – August 2015 
 

No. of Days 
Absence 

Average No. of 
Days per Person 

Average No of 
Days Absence 

per F.T.E 

BCBC No of 
Days Absence 

per F.T.E 

178 
 

6.1 
(0.9 excl. long-term) 

6.1 
(based on 176.5 
F.T.E total days) 

10.83 
2014-15 Full Year 

 
 
4.1.5.2  The absence level includes two long term absences (more than 15 

days continuous) totalling 153 days (153 F.T.E days) within the overall 
absence of 178 days (176.5 F.T.E. days). One long term absent officer 
has since returned to work after a necessary medical operation. 

  
 
4.1.5.3 A summary of the analysis of absence relevant to general post 

categories is provided below for the financial period April – August 
2015. 

 
 
 

Page 80



 

 

 

 
Table 13: Staff Group Absence Analysis (Apr – Aug 2015)  

  
Staff Group No. of 

Staff 
No. of 

Absence 
Days 

No. of 
Staff 

Sickness 
Absence 

Average No. 
of Days 

Absence 
(All staff) 

Average No. of 
Days Absence 
(Absent Staff 

Only) 

Management 2 0 0 0.0 0.0 

Administrative/Professional 16 118.5 5 7.4 23.7 

Warehouse 8 6.5 2 0.8 3.3 

Transport 3 53 2 17.7 26.5 

 
4.1.5.4 Members have also requested further information on the breakdown of 

absence by gender and the reasons for absence, which is reported 
below. 

 
Table 14: Staff Absence by Gender 
 

Gender Total Staff No. of Staff 
Sickness 
Absence 

No. of Absence 
Days 

Male 12 4 59.5 

Female 17 5 118.5 

  
Table 15: Staff Absence Reasons 

 

Reason No. of Staff No. of Absence 
Days 

Chest & Respiratory 1 5.5 

Eye/Ear/Throat/Nose/Mouth/Dental 0 0 

Infections 1 4 

MSD including Back & Neck 2 107.5 

Neurological 2 4 

Stomach/Liver/Kidney/Digestion 2 54 

Stress/Anxiety/Depression/Mental Health 1 3 

 
4.1.5.5 All occurrences of absence are managed in accordance with corporate 

policy guidelines and have resulted in four welfare meetings, three 
informal review meetings and a forthcoming meeting to invoke the 
BCBC Absence Management Policy for the remaining long term absent 
officer. 

 
 
 
4.1.6  Debt Management 
   
4.1.6.1 Further information has previously been requested relating to the Joint 

Supplies Service long term outstanding debt. 
 

Page 81



 

 

 

4.1.6.2 Outstanding debt over 120 days currently forms 6.1% of total 
outstanding debt as at 31st August 2015. 

 
 Table 16: Debt Over 120 Days 
 

Corporate Education Outside Authority Sponsorship 

£12,718 
(2.23%)* 

£6,495 
(1.14%)* 

£1,883 
(0.33%)* 

£13,584 
(2.39%)* 

 
* Percentage of overall current outstanding debt at 31st August 2015 (£569,426) 
 
 
4.1.7  Year End Holiday Period  
 
4.1.7.1 The JSS office closure during the Christmas/New Year period, 

practiced successfully over several years, will include the period 
December 29th to 31st with the closure being accommodated by way of 
staff annual leave and flexible working arrangements.  

 
 
5   Effect upon Policy Framework and Procedure Rules 
 
5.1  None.  
 
 
6  Equality Impact Assessment 
 
6.1  There are no equality implications.  . 
 
 
7  Financial Implications 
 
7.1  These are reflected in the body of the report. 
 
8  Recommendation 
 
  It is recommended Members note the content of the report. 
 
 
Andrew Jolley 
Assistant Chief Executive – Legal and Regulatory Services 
 
Contact Officer: Steve Evans 
Telephone:  (01656) 664552 
E-mail:  steve.evans@bridgend.gov.uk  
 
Background Documents: None 

Page 82



Document is Restricted

Page 83

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 87

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Approval of Minutes
	6 Audited Statement of Accounts 2014-2015
	150924 Audited Statement of Accounts 2014-2015 Appendix 1
	150924 Audited Statement of Accounts 2014-2015 Appendix 2
	150924 Audited Statement of Accounts 2014-2015 Appendix 3
	Introduction
	Status of the audit
	Proposed audit report
	Significant issues arising from the audit
	Misstatements
	Other significant issues arising from the audit

	Independence and objectivity
	Final Letter of Representation
	Representations regarding the 2014-15 financial statements
	Management representations
	Responsibilities
	Information provided
	Financial statement representations

	Representations by the Audit Committee
	Proposed audit report of the Auditor General to Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee
	Independent auditor’s report to the Members of Catalogue Supplies Service Joint Committee

	Internal Control Weaknesses and Recommendations


	7 Service Trading and Operational Performance
	9 Approval of Exempt Minutes
	10 Relocation of the Joint Supplies Service

